Memorandum of Understanding

between

County of San Mateo

and

Deputy Sheriff's Association

(Deputy Sheriff, Sheriffs Correctional Officer and District Attorney Inspector)

~~⊄~~

January 10, 2021 - January 10, 2026

DEPUTY SHERIFF'S ASSOCIATION Memorandum of Understanding

Table of Contents

Section 1.	Recognition	Tubic of Contonic	6
Section 2	Association Security		6
2.2	Dues Deduction		6
Section 3.	Association Representatives		8
Section 4.	County Rights		10
Section 5.	No Discrimination		10
Section 6.	Salaries		10
6.1	Survey		10
6.2	Experience Pay and Safety Lor	ngevity Pay	12
6.6	Salary Step When Salary Rang	e Is Revised	13
6.7	Salary Step After Promotion o	r Demotion	14
6.8	Reclassification of Position		14
6.9	"Y" Rate Process		14
6.10	Salary Step Defined		14
Section 7.	Days and Hours of Work		14
Section 8.	Overtime		14
8.1 Aut	horization		14
8.2	Definition		15
8.3 Wo	rk Groups		15
8.4	Compensatory Time Off (CTO))	16
Section 9.	Shift Differential		16
Section 10	D. Application of Differential		16
Section 1:	L. On-Call Pav and Minimum Call	Back	17

Section 12.	Bilingual Pay	. 18
Section 13.	Tuition Reimbursement	. 18
Section 14.	Career Incentive Allowance for Law Enforcement Officers	. 18
Section 15.	Layoff and Reemployment	. 19
15.1	Notice of Layoff	. 19
15.2	Precedence by Employment Status	. 19
15.3	Procedures	. 20
15.4	Names of Employees Laid Off to be Placed on Re-employment and General Eligible Lists	. 20
15.5	Abolition of Position	. 21
Section 16.	Severance Pay	. 21
Section 17.	Holidays	. 21
17.3	County Holidays	. 21
Section 18.	Vacations	. 22
18.1	Vacation Allowance	. 22
18.2	Vacation Schedule	. 23
18.3	Vacation Allowance for Separated Employees	. 23
18.4	Vacation Pay	. 23
Section 19.	Sick Leave	. 23
19.1	Accrual	. 23
19.2	"New" Sick Leave Usage	. 24
19.3	Procedures for Requesting and Approving Sick Leave	. 24
19.4	Accounting for Sick Leave	. 25
19.5	Credits	. 25
19.6	Incapacity to Perform Duties	. 25
19.7	Use of Sick Leave While on Vacation	. 25
19.9	Catastrophic Leave	. 25

Section 20.	Leaves of Absence	26
20.1	General	26
20.2	Benefit Entitlement	27
20.3	Seniority Rights and Salary Adjustments	27
20.4 Job	Incurred Disability Leave	27
20.5	Leave of Absence Without Pay	28
20.6	Military Leaves of Absence	28
20.7	Absence Due to Required Attendance in Court	29
20.8	Absence Without Leave	29
20.9	Educational Leave of Absence With Pay	29
Period	of Obligated Employment	30
Section 21.	Hospitalization and Medical Care	30
21.2	Retiree Health	31
Section 22.	Dental Care	37
Section 23.	Vision Care	37
Section 24.	Change in Employee Benefit Plans	37
Section 25.	Life Insurance	37
Section 26.	Uniform Allowance/Safety Equipment	38
Section 27.	Promotion	38
27.1	Examinations	38
27.2	Promotional Eligible Lists	38
27.3	Probationary Period	39
Section 28.	Reallocation of Position	39
Section 29.	Change of Assigned Duties	39
Section 30.	Pay for Work-Out-of-Classification	39
Section 31.	Probationary Period	40

Section 32	. Dismissal, Suspension Reduction in Step or Demotion for Cause	. 41
Section 33	. Grievance Procedures	. 41
33.4	Scope of Arbitration Decisions	. 42
33.5	Compensation Complaints	. 43
33.6	County Charter and Civil Service Commission	. 43
33.7	Involuntary Transfers for the Alleged Purpose of Punishment	. 43
Section 34	. Retirement Plan	. 44
34.1	Retirement Plan	. 44
34.2	Retirement COLA	. 45
Section 35	. Deferred Compensation Plan- Automatic Enrollment for New Employees	. 45
Section 36	Bereavement Leave	. 46
Section 37	No Strike	. 46
Section 38	Severability of Provisions	. 46
Section 39	Past Practices	. 46

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

The Deputy Sheriffs Association (DSA) and representatives of the County of San Mateo have met and conferred in good faith regarding wages, hours and other terms and conditions, have exchanged freely information, opinions and proposals and have endeavored to reach agreement on all matters relating to the employment conditions and employer-employee relations of such employees. This Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) is entered into pursuant to the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act (Government Code Sections 3500 et seq) and has been jointly prepared by the parties. This MOU shall be presented to the County Board of Supervisors and, if appropriate, to the Civil Service Commission as the joint recommendations of the undersigned for salary and employee benefit adjustments for the period commencing January 10, 2021 through January 10, 2026.

Section 1. Recognition

The Deputy Sheriffs' Association, hereinafter referred to as the "DSA", is the recognized employee organization for this bargaining unit, certified pursuant to Resolution No. 38586, adopted by the Board of Supervisors on May 16, 1978. This MOU covers County probationary and regular employees employed in the classifications of Deputy Sheriff, Deputy Sheriff Trainee, Sheriff's Correctional Officer and District Attorney Inspector.

Section 2. Association Security

The Association agrees that it has the duty to provide fair and non-discriminatory representation to all employees in the representation unit regardless of whether they are members of the Association.

2.1 Hold Harmless

The Association shall indemnify, defend, and save the County harmless against any and all claims, demands, suits, orders, or judgments, or other forms of liability that arise out of or by reason of the Association Security and/or Dues Deduction provisions, or action taken or not taken by the County under one or both of these provisions. Indemnification and defense includes, but is not limited to, payment of the County's attorney's fees and costs.

2.2 Dues Deduction

The Association may have the regular dues of its members within the representation unit deducted from employees' paychecks under procedures prescribed by the County Controller. The deduction shall be made only after the Association certifies to the County a list of workers who have authorized such deductions, and shall continue: (1) until such certification is revoked, in writing, by the Association; or (2) until the transfer of the employee to a unit represented by another employee organization.

Employees may authorize dues deductions only for the organization certified as the recognized employee organization of the unit to which such employees are assigned.

Not more than once per week (preferably bi-weekly on non-payroll Fridays), the Association will send a list of changes to its Union member listing by email to the Controller's Office at payroll@smcgov.org with the following Certification statement:

"I, NAME, TITLE, hereby certify that Deputy Sheriffs Association possesses and will maintain an authorization (for dues deductions and/or voluntary political contribution deductions, as indicated) signed by the individuals on this list from whose salary or wages the deductions is to be made."

Certified spreadsheets that arrive by the non-payday Friday will be processed for the following week's

payroll.

The County shall create up to five (5) additional dues deduction lines for members and Associate members of the Association who shall be allowed to have their dues deducted post tax from their paychecks. The amount of the deduction shall be determined by the Association, employees shall then authorize the county to deduct the stated amount.

If, after all other involuntary and insurance premium deductions are made in any pay period, the balance is not sufficient to pay the Association dues required by this Section, no such deduction shall be made for the current pay period.

2.3 Reinstatement

Employees who are separated from the representation unit, shall be reinstated upon the return of the employee to the representation unit. For the purpose of this Paragraph, the term separation includes transfer out of the representation unit, layoff, and leave of absence without pay.

2.4 Communications with Employees

The Association shall be allowed by County departments in which it represents employees use of available bulletin board space for communications having to do with official Association business, such as times and places of meetings, provided such use does not interfere with department needs.

The Association may distribute materials to unit employees through County mail and email distribution channels if approved by the Human Resources Director. This privilege may be revoked in the event of abuse after the Director consults with Association representatives. The content of any materials distributed to employees shall not relate to political activity or violate existing County policies. Employees shall not prepare Association-related emails during County work time without first obtaining approved release time.

Any Association representative shall give the Department Head or representative at least twenty-four (24) hours advance notice when contacting employees during the duty period, provided that solicitation for membership and other internal Association business shall be conducted only during the non-duty hours of all employees concerned. Prearrangement for routine contact may be made by agreement between the Association and the department head and when made shall continue until revoked.

2.5 Use of County Buildings

County buildings and facilities may be made available for use by County employees or the Association or its representatives in accordance with such administrative procedures as may be established by the County Manager or department head concerned.

2.6 Advance Notice

Except in cases of emergency as provided below in this subsection, the Association, if affected, shall be given reasonable advance written notice of any ordinance, resolution, policy, rule or regulation directly relating to matters within the scope of representation proposed to be adopted by the County and shall be given the opportunity to meet with the appropriate management representatives prior to adoption.

In cases of emergency when the foregoing procedure is not practical or in the best public interest, the County may adopt or put into practice immediately such measures as are required. At the earliest practical date

thereafter the Association shall be provided with the notice described in the preceding paragraph and be given an opportunity to meet with the appropriate management representatives.

2.7 New Employee Orientation

The County and the Association shall continue to work on best practices to ensure labor access to new employees for the purpose of educating them on their representation opportunities. Toward that goal, the County shall administer an opportunity for the Association to meet with new employees as follows:

All new employees are encouraged to attend the first new employee benefits orientation following the commencement of their employment. New employee Benefits Orientation is scheduled for every other week, and the Association will have up to thirty (30) minutes at the end of each session to provide information regarding its organization to its represented employees and members.

For employees who do not attend a benefits orientation within the first month of their employment, the Association may schedule, at the supervisor's discretion, up to thirty (30) minutes with each employee to meet directly with them to provide information. Release Time requested for this activity will be reviewed and approved by Employee Relations under normal Release Time processes.

2.8 Employee Roster

The County shall supply without cost to the Association a bi-weekly electronic and sortable data processing run of the names, classifications, work locations, work, home, and personal cellular telephone numbers on file with the County and personal email addresses on file with the County, and home addresses of all employees in the units represented by the Association. Such lists shall indicate hourly rates of pay, hours worked, gross pay, Association dues withheld from employees' checks as of the date the roster was prepared, membership status, the names added to or deleted from the previous list, and whether each such change in status was due to any type of leave of absence, termination, layoff, reemployment after layoff, retirement, or withdrawal from the Association. The County shall notify the Association of employees who are on an unpaid status in excess of twenty-eight (28) days.

Section 3. Association Representatives

The County and Association agree that professional, productive, and positive labor relations can be accomplished when Association and County representatives work together to support the services we provide to the public. To support this philosophy, the parties have agreed to the provisions regarding attendance at meetings and handling of meetings. Paid release time is intended to support the collaboration and cooperative spirit of labor relations by ensuring that Association members have access to resources designed to help support their continued success as public employees and that Association leaders have an opportunity to work together to support the success of their members.

3.1 Release Time for Meet and Confer

County employees who are official representatives of the Association shall be given reasonable time off with pay, including reasonable travel time, to formally meet and confer or consult with management representatives on matters within the scope of representation; to be present at hearings where matters within the scope of representation are being considered; to testify or appear as the designated representative of the Association in settlement conferences, hearings, or other proceedings before PERB, in matters relating to an unfair practice charge; or to testify or appear as the designated representative of the Association in matters before the Civil Service Commission. The use of official time for this purpose shall be reasonable and shall

not interfere with the performance of County services as determined by the County. Such representatives shall submit written requests for excused absences to Employee Relations at least two (2) working days prior to the meeting whenever possible. Except by agreement with Employee Relations, the number of employees excused for such purposes shall not exceed three (3) at any one time. Any denial of requested time off may be appealed to the Human Resources Director whose decision shall be final.

3.2 President Release Time

The County agrees to provide the Association President with sixty (60) hours of release time each pay period. The Association agrees that the start of the term of office for a newly elected President will coincide with the start of a County pay period.

During this County paid release time, the Association President shall engage only in the following activities: (1) preparing for and participating in meet and confer or consultation with representatives of the County or Sheriff's Office on matters relating to employment conditions and employee relations, including wages, hours and other terms and conditions of employment; (2) investigating or processing grievances or appeals; (3) conducting Association business; (4) participation in Association Board and general membership meetings; (5) attendance at Association related training, conferences and workshops. All approved release time will be coded appropriately on the employee's timecard using pay code RTE.

While on release time, the President will utilize accrued leave in accordance with the terms of this agreement for any absences.

The Association President shall not participate in any other activity, including but not limited to political activity, during this County paid release time. Paid release time is not authorized to be used for political activity, any type of activity that is precluded by law or County policy as a conflict of interest, conducting membership drives, or soliciting membership from other County employees or applicants.

The Association President shall provide documentation to the Sheriff certifying that during each pay period, the Association President used the sixty (60) hours of County paid release time only for authorized purposes. The Association President shall provide this certification at the conclusion of each pay period. Use of the paid release time for unauthorized purposes may result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment.

This agreement for sixty (60) hours of release time per pay period encompasses forty (40) hours per pay period of County-paid release time. In recognition of the Association's responsibility for payment for the remaining twenty (20) hours per pay period of release time for the Association President, effective upon Board of Supervisors' approval of the successor MOU in 2022, the February 12th (Lincoln's Birthday) holiday will be converted to a floating holiday, and the floating holiday will be reduced from eight (8) to six (6) paid hours.

The Sheriff shall fix the release time and work schedule hours of the Association President in accordance with Section 7 of the MOU. Release time shall be scheduled during regular business hours unless otherwise agreed to by the parties. Unused release time hours are not transferable. Unused release time hours resulting from approved time off or lack of Association business cannot be banked for later use, nor shall it be cashable at separation.

If Association representation expands, this agreement does not create precedence or provide guarantee of the addition of release time hours for the Association President or the Association Board.

The County shall provide an annual Association release time bank of two hundred and forty (240) hours for use by the Association Board. The Association Board members may use these hours to perform their Association functions, or attend seminars, meetings and conferences designated by the Association for the purpose of professional development, and/or leadership training. The released Board member(s) shall not participate in any other activity, including but not limited to political activity, during this release time. Paid release time is not authorized to be used for political activity, any type of activity that is precluded by law or County policy as a conflict of interest, conducting membership drives, or soliciting membership from other County employees or applicants.

The Association President or designee, shall request use of this time from the Sheriff's Office and Employee Relations at least forty - eight (48) hours in advance of the Board members who will be utilizing the release time. Release time may only be used by a sitting member of the Association Board. All approved release time will be coded appropriately on the employee's timecard using pay code RTE.

Release time for the Board may only be used during the calendar year in which it is provided. Release time for the Board shall not roll over year to year, shall not accrue to any individual employee, nor be cashable at separation.

Section 4. County Rights

Except where modified by this MOU, the County retains the exclusive right to determine the methods, means and personnel by which County government operations are to be conducted; to determine the mission of each of its departments, boards and commissions; to set standards of service to be offered to the public; to administer the Civil Service system; to classify positions; to add or delete positions or classes to or from the salary ordinance; to establish standards for employment, promotion and transfer of employees; to direct its employees; to take disciplinary action for proper cause; to schedule work; and to relieve its employees from duty because of lack of work or other legitimate reasons.

The County reserves the right to take whatever action may be necessary in an emergency situation; however, the Association, if affected by the action, shall be promptly notified. The Human Resources Director shall, on request of either party, refer questions regarding the interpretation of this Section which cannot be resolved between employee and management representatives to either the Board of Supervisors or the Civil Service Commission for hearing and final determination, depending on which body has authority over the matter in dispute. In no event shall such dispute be subject to the grievance procedure of this MOU.

Section 5. No Discrimination

There shall be no discrimination because of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, sexual orientation, legitimate employee organization activities, or on the basis of any other classification protected by law against any employee or applicant for employment by the Association, the County, or anyone employed by the County. To the extent prohibited by applicable state and federal law there shall be no discrimination because of age. There shall be no discrimination against any person with disabilities solely because of such disability unless that disability prevents the person from meeting the minimum standards established.

Section 6. Salaries

6.1 Survey

In recognition of the additional ten percent (10%) differential pay, which is not base pay, paid to Deputy Sheriffs in Santa Clara County as of August 2022, the County and Association agree to the following salary

provisions, which shall resolve all current and potential issues/disputes related to the Santa Clara County ten percent (10%) differential for the purpose of the salary formula in Section 6.1 of the MOU between San Mateo County and the DSA entitled "Salary":

Effective the pay period in which the Board of Supervisors' approves a successor MOU in 2022, salary ranges for Deputy Sheriff will be increased by ten percent (10%).

On or before the first Monday in April in each year, commencing in the calendar year 2023, and ending in the calendar year 2024, the representatives of the County and the representatives of the Deputy Sheriffs Association shall jointly certify to the Board of Supervisors the highest pay rate in effect as of January 31 of that year for deputy sheriffs in the counties of Alameda, Contra Costa, Marin, Napa, San Francisco, Santa Clara, Solano and Sonoma. The terms "pay", "rates of pay", and "pay rates" are hereby defined and intended to include the maximum rate of base pay provided in each of the above jurisdictions for deputy sheriff positions equating to the classification of Deputy Sheriff in the County of San Mateo. Unresolved disputes regarding the interpretation or application of this paragraph shall be resolved by submission to a jointly chosen, neutral arbitrator whose decisions shall be final and binding on the parties and shall be submitted to the Board of Supervisors. The Board of Supervisors shall thereupon fix the rates of pay of the classification of Deputy Sheriff at 1% above the highest pay rate specified in this survey. In addition to 1% above the highest pay rate specified in the survey, the County will add an additional 3.3% equity adjustment for the 2023 and 2024 calendar years only. Such rates of pay shall be fixed to be effective as of the first day of the first full pay period in January of each year specified above (2023-2024). The County shall not reduce salaries during the term of this agreement.

On or before the first Monday in April of 2025, the representatives of the County and the representatives of the Deputy Sheriffs Association shall jointly certify to the Board of Supervisors the highest pay rate in effect as of January 31 of that year for deputy sheriffs in the counties of Alameda, Contra Costa, Marin, Napa, San Francisco, Santa Clara, Solano and Sonoma. The terms "pay", "rates of pay", and "pay rates" are hereby defined and intended to include the maximum rate of base pay provided in each of the above jurisdictions for deputy sheriff positions equating to the classification of Deputy Sheriff in the County of San Mateo. Unresolved disputes regarding the interpretation or application of this paragraph shall be resolved by submission to a jointly chosen, neutral arbitrator whose decisions shall be final and binding on the parties and shall be submitted to the Board of Supervisors. The Board of Supervisors shall thereupon fix the rates of pay of the classification of Deputy Sheriff at 1% above the highest pay rate specified in this survey. Such rates of pay shall be fixed to be effective as of the first day of the first full pay period in January of 2025. The County shall not reduce salaries during the term of this agreement.

Salary increases for the classification of Sheriff's Correctional Officer shall be set at eighty-five percent (85%) of the Deputy Sheriff's salary. In 2022, this salary adjustment will be effective the pay period in which the Board of Supervisors' approves a successor MOU . In calendar years 2023, 2024 and 2025, the salary adjustment will be effective in January of each year once the Deputy Sheriff's salary for the calendar year has been set.

Salary increases for the classification of District Attorney Inspector shall be the same percentage as that of Deputy Sheriffs, as described above. In 2022, this salary adjustment shall be effective the pay period in which the Board of Supervisors' approves a successor MOU in 2022. In calendar years 2023, 2024, and 2025, the salary adjustment will be effective the first full pay period in January of each year

Effective the first full pay period following Association ratification and Board of Supervisors' adoption of a successor MOU, each employee in active full time paid status will receive a lump sum payment of two thousand dollars (\$2,000) as a non-discretionary incentive to ratify the agreement. It is the intent of the parties that the lump sum payments will not be treated as salary or wages, as the payments are not provided as

compensation for hours of employment or longevity pay. The lump sum payments will not be included in overtime/regular rate of pay calculations, will not be treated as pensionable compensation, and there will be no roll up effect of the lump sum payments. The County will withhold taxes from lump sum payments in accordance with federal and state requirements. The lump sum payments will be prorated for part-time employees.

6.2 Experience Pay and Safety Longevity Pay

In addition to the salary provisions described in Section 6.1 above, employees in the classifications of Deputy Sheriff, Sheriffs Correctional Officer and District Attorney Inspector shall receive experience pay at the following rates:

Effective the first full pay period following Association ratification and Board of Supervisors' adoption of a successor MOU, 2% at the beginning of the eighth (8th) year

3% at the beginning of the fifteenth (15th) year

4% at the beginning of the eighteenth (18th) year

5% at the beginning of the twentieth (20th) year

Such experience pay shall be paid bi-weekly, beginning on the first full pay period after the above periods of service with the County of San Mateo, for the classification of Deputy Sheriff and District Attorney Inspector based on total years of California Peace Officers Standards and Training (POST) qualified peace officer experience service for the County of San Mateo and/or on total years of qualified California correctional officer experience service for the County of San Mateo. Such experience pay shall be paid biweekly, beginning on the first full pay period after the above periods of service, for the classification of Sheriffs Correctional Officer based on total years of qualified California correctional officer experience service for the County of San Mateo. This experience pay shall be calculated as the above stated percentage of the employee's current step base pay. Base pay shall be defined as the base salary listed in the County salary schedules and shall not include employer pick up of the employee's retirement contribution or any differentials or premium pays.

Effective January 31, 2016 and for the term of this Agreement, employees in the classifications of Deputy Sheriff, Sheriff's Correctional Officer and District Attorney Inspector hired by the County of San Mateo into Retirement Tier 4 will receive one and nine-tenths percent (1.9%) Safety Longevity Pay; and employees in the classifications of Deputy Sheriff, Sheriff's Correctional Officer and District Attorney Inspector hired by the County of San Mateo into Retirement Tier 1 or Tier 2 will receive three and fifteen one hundredths percent (3.15%) Safety Longevity Pay.

- 6.3 Except as herein otherwise provided, the entrance salary for a new employee entering County service shall be the minimum salary for the class to which appointed. When circumstances warrant, the Human Resources Director may, upon recommendation of the department head, approve an entrance salary which is more than the minimum salary. The Human Resources Director's decision shall be final. Such a salary may not be more than the maximum salary for the class to which that employee is appointed unless such salary is designated as a Y rate by the Board of Supervisors.
- 6.4 Permanent and probationary employees serving in regular established positions shall be considered by the appointing authority on their salary anniversary dates for advancement to the next higher step in the salary schedule for their respective classes as follows. All increases shall be effective at the beginning of the next full pay period.
 - (1) After completion of 1040 regular hours satisfactory service in Step A of the salary schedule, and upon recommendation of the appointing authority, the employee shall be advanced to the next higher step

in the salary schedule for the class. If an employee is appointed at a step higher than the first step of the salary range for that class, the first merit increase shall be after completion of 2080 regular hours of satisfactory service.

- (2) After completion of 2080 regular hours satisfactory service in each of the salary steps above A, and upon recommendation of the appointing authority, the employee shall be advanced to the next higher step in the salary schedule for the class until the top of the range is reached.
- (3) If an employee completes the 1040 or 2080 hours in the middle of a pay period, the employee shall be eligible for an increase as follows:

if the merit increase period is completed during the first week of a pay period the increase will be made effective the start of the then current pay period.

if the merit increase period is completed during the second week of a pay period the increase will be made effective with the start of the next period.

- (4) Upon the recommendation of the appointing authority and approval by the Human Resources Director, employees may receive special merit increases at intervals other than those specified in this Section. The Human Resources Director's decision shall be final.
- 6.5 Employees shall be considered for salary step increases according to the date of their appointment or the revised salary adjustment hours balance. Changes in employees' salary because of promotion, upward reclassification, postponement of salary step increase or special merit increase will set a new salary adjustment hours balance for that employee, which balance shall be as stated in the preceding paragraph.

Employees who are rejected during the probationary period and revert to their former class shall return to the salary adjustment hours balance held in the former class unless otherwise determined by the Human Resources Director. The salary adjustment hours balance for an employee shall not be affected by a transfer, downward reclassification or a demotion.

A permanent employee accepting provisional employment in a higher or different class in the County Classified Service, who reverts to the former class, shall retain the salary adjustment hours balance in the former class on the same basis as if there had been no such provisional appointment.

Salary range adjustments for a class will not set a new salary adjustment hours balance for employees serving in that class.

Upon recommendation of the appointing authority and approval of the Human Resources Director provisional, temporary, seasonal and extra help employees shall be advanced to the next higher step in the salary schedule upon completion of the periods of service prescribed in this Section, provided that their service has been satisfactory. Also, upon recommendation of the appointing authority and approval by the Human Resources Director, continuous service in a provisional, temporary, or extra help capacity shall be added to service in a regular established position for purposes of determining an employee's salary adjustment hours balance, eligibility for salary increases, and vacation and sick leave accrual. However, such service may not be added if it preceded a period of over twenty-eight consecutive calendar days during which the employee was not in a pay status, except when the employee is absent due to an injury or disease for which they are entitled to and currently receiving Worker's Compensation benefits.

6.6 Salary Step When Salary Range Is Revised

Whenever the salary range for a class is revised, such incumbent in a position to which the revised schedule applies shall remain at the step in the previous range, unless otherwise specifically provided by the Board of Supervisors.

6.7 Salary Step After Promotion or Demotion

When an employee is promoted from a position in one class to a position in a higher class and at the time of promotion is receiving a base salary equal to or greater than the minimum base rate for the higher class, they shall be entitled to the next step in the salary schedule of the higher class which is at least one step above the rate they have been receiving, except that the next step shall not exceed the maximum salary of the higher class. When an employee is demoted, voluntarily or otherwise, that employee's compensation shall be adjusted to the salary prescribed for the class to which demoted, and the specific rate of pay within the range shall be determined by the Human Resources Director, whose decision shall be final; provided, however, that the Board of Supervisors may provide for a rate of pay higher than the maximum step of the schedule for the employee's class, and designate such rate of pay as a Y rate.

6.8 Reclassification of Position

An employee in a position reclassified downward shall have the right to either (1) transfer to a vacant position in their present class in the same or another department, provided the head of the department into which the transfer is proposed agrees, or (2) continue in the same position in the lower class at a "Y" rate of pay when their pay is higher than the maximum step of the salary range for the lower class.

6.9 "Y" Rate Process

When an employee is reclassified downward, they shall continue in their present salary range, with cost of living adjustments, for two years, at which point the employee's salary shall be frozen ("Y" - rated) until the salary assigned to the lower class equals or exceeds such "Y" rate. The "Y" rate provisions of this Section shall not apply to layoffs, demotions, or other personnel actions resulting in an incumbent moving from one position to another.

6.10 Salary Step Defined

For purposes of salary administration in this contract a step is defined as 5.74%.

Section 7. Days and Hours of Work

The standard workweek for employees occupying full-time positions consists of forty (40) hours unless otherwise specified by the Board of Supervisors. The appointing authority shall fix the hours of work with due regard for the convenience of the public and the laws of the State and County. Employees occupying part-time positions shall work such hours and schedules as the Board and the appointing authority shall prescribe. Except as hereinafter provided, County offices shall be open for business from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. every day except Saturdays, Sundays and holidays. With the County Manager's approval, department heads may make such changes to the schedule of office hours as public convenience or necessity may require.

Section 8. Overtime

8.1 Authorization

All compensable overtime must be authorized by the appointing authority or designated representative prior to being worked. If prior authorization is not feasible due to emergency conditions, a confirming authorization

must be made on the next regular working day following the date on which the overtime was worked. Overtime worked must be in the job class in which the person is regularly employed or in a class for which the employee is authorized higher pay for work in a higher class.

8.2 Definition

Except as otherwise provided by Charter, or as defined herein, any authorized time worked in excess of a forty (40) hour weekly work schedule shall be considered overtime and shall be compensable at the rate of one and one-half times the overtime worked whether compensated by monetary payment or by the granting of compensatory time off.

For employees on a 12-hour shift schedule in classes permitted by the Fair Labor Standards Act, overtime shall be defined as hours worked in excess of one hundred sixty-eight (168) hours in a twenty-eight (28) day period.

For purposes of determining eligibility for overtime compensation, any absence with pay, except sick leave, shall be considered as time worked. Sick leave will be considered as time worked under the following conditions:

- The potential overtime hours occur due to the employee being called into work while officially assigned to be in an On-Call status. For example, the employee uses 8 hours of sick leave on Monday and is called into work from an On-Call status on Wednesday night and works 4 hours outside the regular shift. In this case, the employee will code 8 hours of sick leave on Monday and 4 hours of overtime on Wednesday.
- The potential overtime hours occur due to the employee being ordered or mandated to work the additional hours when not in an On-Call status. For example, the employee uses 8 hours of sick leave on Monday and is called on Wednesday night and ordered to report to work for 4 hours outside the regular shift. In this case, the employee will code 8 hours of sick leave on Monday and 4 hours of overtime on Wednesday.

Sick leave will not be considered as time worked under other circumstances. For example:

• If the employee is not in an On-Call status and is not ordered or mandated to work the additional hours, sick leave used in that overtime calculation period shall not be considered as time worked for the purpose of eligibility for overtime compensation. For example, an employee calls in sick for an 8-hour shift on Monday. The employee is not scheduled to work a regular shift on Wednesday, but has either previously signed up for 8 hours of voluntary overtime for that day, or is called at home and is asked to work an 8 hour shift that day and agrees to do so voluntarily. In this case, the employee would code no sick leave for Monday, but would, instead, code 8 hours of straight time for Wednesday. There would be no overtime and no deduction from sick leave balances.

The smallest increment of working time that may be credited as overtime is 6 minutes. Portions of 6 minutes worked at different times shall not be added together for the purpose of crediting overtime.

Employees who are regularly scheduled to work a biweekly overtime schedule will not receive overtime if they are receiving vacation or sick leave pay for the entire biweekly pay period during the time when the regularly scheduled overtime falls.

8.3 Work Groups

The Human Resources Director shall allocate all job classes to the following described work groups for purposes of determining categories of employees to be compensated by monetary payment or comp time off. The Director's decision shall be final; provided that prior to changing the work group of an existing class covered by this MOU the Director shall notify the Association of the contemplated change and if requested, discuss with the Association the reasons for the work group change.

<u>Work Group 1:</u> Employees in Work Group I are covered by the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) and may be compensated for overtime worked either by monetary payment or by compensatory time off, up to the cap permissible under Section 8.3 of this MOU, at the option of the employee. All monetary payments for overtime must be paid not later than the next biweekly payroll following the pay period in which the overtime was worked. Should the County through some future Federal ruling be exempted from FLSA, the County shall revert to the base rate for the computation of overtime.

8.4 Compensatory Time Off (CTO)

Effective the first full pay period following Association ratification and Board of Supervisors' adoption of a successor MOU in 2022, the maximum compensatory time off accrual shall be ninety-six (96) hours.

CTO which accrues in excess of ninety-six (96) hours must be liquidated by monetary payment. Utilization of compensatory time off shall be by mutual agreement between the department head and the employee. The smallest increment of CTO which may be taken off is 6 minutes.

Section 9. Shift Differential

- 9.1 Shift differential pay, for the purpose of this Section, is defined as pay at a rate which is one step above the employee's base pay in the salary range for their class. If the base pay is at the top step, shift differential pay shall be computed at one step above such base pay.
- 9.2 Employees shall be paid shift differential for all hours so worked between the hours of 6:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m.

Section 10. Application of Differential

For employees who have been:

- (1) regularly working a shift described in Section 9, and/or
- (2) assigned to and regularly working a special job assignment enumerated in Exhibit B of this Memorandum, and/or
- (3) eligible for and receiving Career Incentive Allowance for Law Enforcement Officers as provided in Section 14, for 30 or more calendar days immediately preceding a paid holiday, the commencement of a vacation, paid sick leave period, or comp time off, as the case may be, the applicable differential shall be included in such employee's holiday pay, vacation pay, paid sick leave or paid comp time. The vacation, sick leave, holiday and comp time off pay of an employee on a rotating shift shall include the differential such employee would have received had they been working during such period. Shift differential does not apply when employees are assigned modified duty, unless their modified duty assignment requires them to work between 6:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m.

Section 11. On-Call Pay and Minimum Call Back

A. Policy

When warranted and in the interest of County operations, the department head may assign employees to "on-call" status. This Section clarifies the existing process for the assignment of On-Call work for employees represented by the DSA sworn bargaining unit. For the purpose of this Section 11 only, each of the special assignments listed in subsection B below shall constitute an organizational unit.

B. On-Call Assignments

- 1. Regular and Required On-Call Assignments: All employees in the following special assignments are assigned regular and required on-call hours for which they earn on-call pay:
 - a. Detectives (including Detective Bureau, Airport Detectives, and Transit Detectives)
 - b. Bomb Squad
 - c. OES Liaison
 - d. DA Inspector

C. Process for Assignment of On-Call Hours

- 1. Regular and required on-call assignments, and re-assignments as needed due to employee absences, will be assigned on a rotating schedule and equitably distributed to all employees in the special assignment.
- 2. For voluntary on-call assignments, the Department will solicit volunteers on a rolling basis, and assignments will be provided on a first come, first serve basis. Individual voluntary on-call assignments may be assigned in the absence of sufficient volunteers.

D. On-Call Compensation

Effective the first pay period of January 2018, employees shall be paid an hourly rate of four dollars and forty cents (\$4.40) for time in which they are required to be in an on-call status. Effective the first pay period following ratification and Board of Supervisors' approval of a successor MOU in 2021, employees shall be paid an hourly rate of five dollars and forty cents (\$5.40) for time in which they are required to be in an on-call status.

E. Minimum Call Back

Employees in an on-call status required to report back to work during off-duty hours shall be compensated for a minimum of two (2) hours.

Employees not in an on-call status required to report back to work during off-duty hours shall be compensated for a minimum of three (3) hours.

Hours worked contiguous with the employee's regular shift shall not be subject to call back pay. Employees receiving callback pay shall not be entitled to on-call pay simultaneously.

F. Court Overtime

When an employee is assigned to Telephone Stand-by, is assigned to testify in any court proceeding as

part of their official duties, or is subpoenaed or required by the County to appear in Criminal Court, Civil Court, or a hearing board in the employee's capacity as a County employee, and is not scheduled to be on-duty during any portion of the appearance, upon reporting to the court or location of the hearing, the employee shall receive a minimum of four (4) hours pay at time and one-half (1.5) the employee's regular rate of pay, or the actual amount of time spent in court, whichever is greater.

Section 12. Bilingual Pay

A salary differential of seventy dollars (\$70.00) biweekly shall be paid incumbents or positions requiring bilingual proficiency as designated by the appointing authority and Human Resources Director. Said differential shall be prorated for employees working less than full-time or who are in an unpaid leave of absence status for a portion of any given pay period. Bilingual pay is effective the first pay period after Human Resources certifies the result of the bilingual exam. Under no circumstances is bilingual pay retroactive.

Designation of positions for which bilingual proficiency is required is the sole prerogative of the County and the decision of the Human Resources Director is final. Human Resources will oversee the bilingual examination, certify exam results and determine effective date of bilingual pay of any individual submitted by the Department for testing. The Association shall be notified when such designations are made.

Individuals who promote or transfer to another position or Department will be reevaluated by the receiving Department to determine if bilingual pay should be continued. Should bilingual pay be continued, Department must submit request for continuation with the Human Resources Department.

Section 13. Tuition Reimbursement

Employees may be reimbursed for tuition and related fees paid for taking courses of study in an off-duty status if the subject matter content is closely related to present or probable future work assignments, and limited to programs of instruction that correspond to courses offered by independent bona fide institutions of learning. Limits to the amount of reimbursable expense may be set by the Human Resources Director with the County Manager's concurrence. There must be a reasonable expectation that the employee's work performance or value to the County will be enhanced as a result of the course. Courses taken as part of a program of study for a college undergraduate or graduate degree will be evaluated individually for job relatedness under the above-described criteria. The employee must both begin and successfully complete the course while employed by the County.

Employees must apply on the prescribed form with all information needed to evaluate the request to their department head who shall recommend approval or disapproval and forward the request to the Human Resources Director whose decision shall be final. To be reimbursed the application must have been approved before enrolling in the course. If a course is approved and later found to be unavailable, a substitute course may be approved after enrollment. Upon completion of the course the employee must submit a request for reimbursement accompanied by a copy of the school grade report or a certificate of completion to the Human Resources Department who shall, if the employee satisfactorily completes the course, forward it to the Controller for payment. Reimbursement may include the costs of tuition and related fees. The County will reimburse up to fifty dollars (\$50.00) per course for books and other related course materials (excluding laptops and other electronic devices) under conditions specified in the Tuition Reimbursement program. Reimbursement for books will only be made for community college, undergraduate level or graduate level courses.

Section 14. Career Incentive Allowance for Law Enforcement Officers

A. Employees in the classes of Deputy Sheriff, and District Attorney's Inspector who have successfully completed a probationary period of one of those classes and hold permanent status, shall be eligible to

- receive an incentive allowance equating to two and one-half percent (2.5%) of base pay per biweekly pay period in addition to all other compensation if they possess the intermediate Peace Officers Standards and Training (POST) Certificate.
- B. Employees in the classes of Deputy Sheriff, and District Attorney's Inspector who have successfully completed a probationary period of one of those classes and hold permanent status, shall be eligible to receive an incentive allowance equating to an additional five percent (5%) of base pay per biweekly pay period (for a total of seven and one-half percent (7.5%) if they possess the Advanced POST Certificate issued by the Commission of Peace Officer Standards and Training of the California State Department of Justice.
- C. These same incentive allowances will apply to Sheriff's Correctional Officers who possess the POST recognized equivalencies for the intermediate and advanced certificates. However, employees hired into the Correctional Officer classification who previously held the classification of Deputy Sheriff, shall have the time in the Deputy Sheriff classification count towards this incentive for Correctional Officer.
- D. The permanent status requirement shall not apply to probationary employees who have laterally transferred to San Mateo County positions from other jurisdictions.

Section 15. Layoff and Reemployment

15.1 Notice of Layoff

The department head will give at least 14 days advance written notice to employees to be laid off unless a shorter period of time is authorized by the Human Resources Director.

15.2 Precedence by Employment Status

No permanent employee shall be laid off while employees working in an extra help, seasonal, temporary, provisional or probationary status are retained in the same class unless that employee has been offered the extra help, seasonal, temporary or provisional appointment. The order of layoff among employees not having permanent status shall be according to the following categories:

- (1) Extra help or seasonal
- (2) Temporary
- (3) Provisional
- (4) Probationary

Layoffs shall be by job class according to reverse order of seniority as determined by total continuous County civil service, except as specified above.

The following provisions shall apply in computing total continuous service:

- (1) The following shall count as County service:
 - a. Time spent on military leave,
 - b. Leaves to accept temporary employment of less than one (1) year outside the County government, and
 - c. Leave to accept a position in the unclassified service.
- (2) Periods of time during which an employee is required to be absent from their position due to an injury or disease for which they are entitled to and currently receiving Worker's Compensation benefits shall be included in computing length of service for purposes of determining seniority rights.

- (3) Time worked as an extra help or seasonal shall not count as County service.
- (4) Time worked in a permanent, probationary, provisional or temporary status shall count as County service. Part-time status shall count at the rate of one (1) year of continuous employment for each two thousand eighty (2080) straight-time hours worked.

If two (2) or more employees have the same seniority, the examination scores for their present classes shall determine seniority.

15.3 Procedures

- (1) Employees who are laid off may take a voluntary demotion within the Sheriff's Office or District Attorney's Office to a class in which the employee had prior probationary or permanent status provided such a position is held by an employee with less seniority.
- (2) Displaced employees may request the Human Resources Director to place their name on the promotional eligible list or open eligible list for any class for which, in the Director's opinion, the employee is qualified. The employee's name will be above the names of persons who have not been displaced, ranked in the order specified in subsection 15.2.
- (3) Pursuant to the Civil Service Rules, an employee may with the approval of the Human Resources Director and the gaining department head demote or transfer to a vacant position in the Sheriff's Office or District Attorney's Office for which they possess the necessary skills and fitness.
 - At the sole discretion of the Human Resources Director, an employee may be allowed to transfer and displace a less senior employee in a position in the Sheriff's Office or District Attorney's Office in which they had prior probationary or permanent status and which the Director determines is equivalent with respect to duties and responsibilities to the position the employee presently occupies.
- (4) A transfer is defined as a change from one position to another in the same class, the salary range of which is not more than 10.0% higher.
- (5) Part-time employees shall not displace full-time employees, unless the part-time employee has held full-time status in the class.
- (6) In addition to all other options, employees in classes at risk of being eliminated, as determined by the affected department head, may also be placed on the reinstatement list.
- 15.4 Names of Employees Laid Off to be Placed on Re-employment and General Eligible Lists

The names of employees laid off shall be placed on re-employment eligible lists as hereinafter specified. Former employees appointed from a re-employment eligible list shall be restored all rights accrued prior to being laid off, such as sick leave, vacation credits and credit for years of service. However, such reemployed employees shall not be eligible for benefits for which they received compensation at the time of, or subsequent to, the date they were laid off.

The departmental reemployment eligible list for each class shall consist of employees and former employees with probationary or permanent status who were laid off or whose positions were reclassified downward. The rank order on such lists shall be determined by relative seniority as specified in section 15.2. Such lists shall take precedence over all other eligible lists in making certifications to the department in which the employee worked. The general reemployment eligible list for each class shall consist of employees and

former employees with probationary or permanent status who were laid off or whose positions were reclassified downward. The rank order on such lists shall be determined by relative seniority. Such lists shall take precedence over all other eligible lists, except departmental reemployment eligible lists, in making certifications on a Countywide basis.

The provisions of this subsection 15.4 shall not apply to employees who have accepted severance pay upon termination of employment.

15.5 Abolition of Position

The provisions of Section 15 shall apply when an occupied position is abolished resulting in a classified employee losing status in their assigned class in their assigned department.

Section 16. Severance Pay

If an employee's position is abolished and they are unable to displace another County employee as provided in Section 15, they shall receive reimbursement of fifty percent (50%) of the cash value of their unused sick leave; provided that such employee shall be eligible for reimbursement only if they remain in the service of the County until their services are no longer required by the department head. The County shall make every effort to secure comparable employment for the displaced employee in other agencies, and if such employment is secured, they will not be entitled to the aforementioned reimbursement.

Section 17. Holidays

- 17.1 Regular full-time employees shall receive either eight (8) hours of pay or eight (8) hours of holiday leave for all authorized holidays listed in 17.3, provided they are in a full pay status on both their regularly scheduled workdays immediately preceding and following the holiday. An employee may carry a maximum of one hundred and twenty (120) hours of holiday leave on the books.
 - Part-time employees shall be entitled to holiday pay in proportion to the average percentage of full-time hours worked during the two (2) pay periods immediately preceding the pay period which includes the holiday. If two or more holidays fall on succeeding or alternate pay periods, then the average full-time hours worked in the two (2) pay periods immediately preceding the first holiday shall be used in determining the holiday pay entitlement for the subsequent holiday.
- 17.2 Employees regularly scheduled to work a 9/80 or 4/10 schedule may use vacation, accrued holiday pay or compensatory time off to account for the additional one or two hours of their shift, or they can request to flex those hours within the same work week, with approval of their supervisor.
- 17.3 County Holidays
 - (1) January 1 (New Years' Day)
 - (2) Third Monday in January (Martin Luther King, Jr.'s Birthday)
 - (3) Third Monday in February (Washington's Birthday)
 - (4) Last Monday in May (Memorial Day)
 - (5) June 19 (Juneteenth)
 - (6) July 4 (Independence Day)
 - (7) First Monday in September (Labor Day)
 - (8) Second Monday in October (Indigenous Peoples' Day/Columbus Day)
 - (9) November 11 (Veterans Day)
 - (10) Fourth Thursday in November (Thanksgiving Day)

- (11) Fourth Friday in November
- (12) December 25 (Christmas Day)
- (13) Every day appointed by the President of the United States or Governor of California to be a day of public mourning, thanksgiving or holiday. Granting of such holidays shall be discretionary with the Board of Supervisors.
- (14) Effective upon Board of Supervisors' approval of a successor MOU in 2022, the Lincoln's birthday holiday will be converted to a floating holiday, for which Regular full-time employees shall receive six (6) hours of holiday leave which will accrue on February 12 each year. The floating holiday hours may be used starting the first pay period that begins after February 12 each year. The value of the holiday is reduced from eight (8) hours to six (6) hours as the Association's contribution to the President's Release Time.
- 17.4 If the Legislature or the Governor appoints a date different from the one shown above for the observance of one of these holidays, then San Mateo County shall observe the holiday on the date appointed by the Legislature or the Governor.
- 17.5 If one of the holidays listed above falls on Sunday, the holiday will be observed on Monday.

If any of the above holidays falls on a day other than Sunday and an employee is not regularly scheduled to work that day, or if an employee is required to work on a holiday, they shall be entitled to equivalent straight time off with pay. This equivalent straight time off is limited to one hundred twenty (120) hours with any time earned in excess of one hundred twenty (120) hours cashed out at the equivalent straight time rate. If an employee leaves County service with accrued hours, those hours will be cashed out. If, however, the department head determines, in their sole discretion, that in the case of an employee in Work Group 1 the requirements of the service make it not feasible to add equivalent straight time to the employee's vacation accumulation, the employee shall be paid for the holiday on the basis of straight time but not to exceed eight (8) hours for any one (1) holiday.

17.6 Employees working more than their regularly scheduled shift on a holiday shall be compensated for such excess time as provided in Section 8, Overtime.

Section 18. Vacations

18.1 Vacation Allowance

Effective the first full pay period following Board of Supervisors' approval of a successor MOU in 2022, employees, excluding extra help or as herein otherwise provided, shall be entitled to vacation with pay in accordance with the following schedules. Such accrual shall be prorated for any employees, except extra help, who work less than full-time during a pay period.

- (1) During the first five (5) years of continuous service, vacation will be accrued at the rate of 4.0 hours per biweekly pay period worked.
- (2) After the completion of five (5) years of continuous service, vacation will be accrued at the rate of 5.0 hours per biweekly pay period worked.
- (3) After the completion of ten (10) years of continuous service, vacation will be accrued at the rate of 6.0 hours per biweekly pay period worked.
- (4) After the completion of fifteen (15) years of continuous service, vacation will be accrued at the rate of 7.0 hours per biweekly pay period worked.
- (5) After the completion of twenty (20) years of continuous service, vacation will be accrued at the rate of 8.0 hours per biweekly pay period worked.
- (6) After the completion of twenty-five (25) years of continuous service, vacation will be accrued at the

- rate of 9.0 hours per biweekly pay period worked.
- (7) No employee may carry an accumulation of vacation hours exceeding the amount that can be accrued within fifty-two (52) biweekly pay periods at any one time. However, employees may accrue unlimited vacation time in excess of the maximum when such vacation accrues due to remaining in a pay status during periods of illness or injury which precluded liquidating vacation credits earned in excess of the maximum allowed.
- (8) No vacation will be permitted prior to the completion of thirteen (13) full biweekly pay periods of continuous service.
- (9) Vacation may be used in increments of six (6) minutes.
- (10) Extra help do not accrue vacation credits, except that the service of an employee in an extra help capacity may be included with service in a regular established position in computing vacation allowance for the purpose of this Section. However, such service in an extra help or seasonal capacity may not be included if it preceded a period of over thirty (30) days during which the employee was not in a pay status.

18.2 Vacation Schedule

The time at which employees shall be granted vacation shall be at the discretion of the appointing authority. Length of service and seniority of employees shall considered in scheduling vacations and in giving preference as to vacation time.

18.3 Vacation Allowance for Separated Employees

When an employee is separated from County service any remaining vacation allowance shall be added to the final compensation.

18.4 Vacation Pay

Payment for vacation shall be at the base pay of the employee plus applicable differential, if any, as provided in Section 10.

Section 19. Sick Leave

19.1 Accrual

Effective until February 4, 2023, employees shall accrue "old sick leave" at the rate of three and seventenths (3.7) hours for each biweekly pay period of full-time work. Such accrual shall be prorated for any employee who works less than full time during a pay period. For the purpose of this Section, absence in a pay status shall be considered work. Effective February 5, 2023, "old sick leave" will cease to accrue for all employees.

Effective February 5, 2023, all employees, except extra help or seasonal, shall accrue "new" sick leave at the rate of three and seven-tenths (3.7) hours for each biweekly pay period of full-time work. "New" sick leave will have no cash value and will not have conversion value for the purpose of sick leave conversion for retiree health coverage. Such accrual shall be pro-rated for employees, except extra help or seasonal employees, who work less than full-time during a pay period. For purposes of this Section absence in a pay status shall be considered work.

"New" sick leave can accrue up to a cap of nine hundred sixty (960) hours. Once an employee accrues up to the cap of nine hundred sixty (960) hours, the employee will cease to accrue sick leave until such time the employee uses sick leave to reduce accrued hours below the cap.

A break in service of twenty-eight (28) days or more will result in the forfeiture of all accrued, unused old and new sick leave. An approved leave of absence, including FMLA/CFRA, disability, and pregnancy disability leave, will not constitute a break in service for the purpose of this section.

19.2 "New" Sick Leave Usage

"New" sick leave, plus up to one hundred ninety- two (192) hours of "old" sick leave, is accrued paid leave from work that can be used for any of the following purposes:

- A. Diagnosis, care, or treatment of an employee's illness, injury, health condition, or exposure to contagious disease which incapacitates them from performance of duties. This includes disabilities caused or contributed to by pregnancy, miscarriage, abortion, childbirth, and recovery therefrom as determined by a licensed health care professional.
- B. The employee's receipt of preventative care or required medical or dental care or consultation.
- C. The employee's attendance, for the purpose of diagnosis, care, or treatment of an existing health condition of, or preventative care, on a member of the immediate family who is ill. For the purpose of this Section, immediate family means parent, spouse, registered domestic partner, child, stepchild, sibling, parent-in-law, grandparent or grandchild. The employee's preparation for or attendance at the funeral of a member of the immediate family. For the purpose of preparation for or attendance at a funeral, immediate family also includes child-in-law, grandparent-in-law, and sibling-in-law. Use of sick leave for this expanded definition is limited to a maximum of three (3) days if travel is required.
- D. The employee's attendance to an adoptive child or to a child born to the employee or the employee's spouse or registered domestic partner for up to six (6) weeks immediately after the birth or arrival of the child in the home. Sick leave used concurrently with California Family Rights Act (CFRA) leave for the purpose of bonding following the birth, adoption or foster care placement of a child of the employee must be concluded within one (1) year of the birth or placement of the child. The basic minimum duration of such leave is two (2) weeks. However, an employee is entitled to leave for one of these purposes (e.g. bonding with a newborn) for less than two (2) weeks duration on any two (2) occasions.
- E. An employee who is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking may use up to one half (1/2) of their annual sick leave allotment to:
 - 1. Obtain or attempt to obtain a temporary restraining order or other court assistance to help ensure the health safety or welfare of the employee or their child; or
 - 2. Obtain medical attention or psychological counseling; services from a shelter; program or crisis center; or participate in safety planning or other actions to increase safety.

An employee may elect to use their full amount of "new" sick leave in advance of drawing on "old" sick leave accrued.

19.3 Procedures for Requesting and Approving Sick Leave

When the requirement for sick leave is known to the employee in advance of the absence, they shall request authorization for sick leave at such time, in the manner hereinafter specified. In all other instances the employee shall notify their supervisor as promptly as possible by telephone or other means. Before an employee may be paid for the use of accrued sick leave, they shall complete and submit to their department head a signed statement, on a prescribed form, stating the dates and hours of absence and such other information as is necessary for the request to be evaluated. If an employee does not return to work prior to the preparation of the payroll, other arrangements may be made with the approval of the department head

and the Controller.

The department head may require a physician's statement from an employee who applies for sick leave or make whatever investigation into the circumstances that appears warranted before taking action on the request.

19.4 Accounting for Sick Leave

Sick leave may be used in increments no smaller than six (6) minutes. Payment for sick leave used shall be at the employee's base pay plus applicable differential, if any, as provided in Section 10.

19.5 Credits

When an employee who has been working in a seasonal or extra help category is appointed to a permanent position they may receive credit for such extra help or seasonal period of service in computing accumulated sick leave, provided that no credit shall be given for service preceding any period of more than twenty-eight consecutive days in which an employee was not in a pay status.

If an employee who has unused sick leave accrued is laid off and subsequently reemployed in a permanent position, such sick leave credits shall be restored upon reemployment. No portion of sick leave credits for which an employee received compensation at the time of or subsequent to the day of layoff shall be restored.

19.6 Incapacity to Perform Duties

If the appointing authority has been informed through a doctor's report of a medical examination that an employee is not capable of properly performing their duties, they may require the employee to abstain from work until the incapacity is remedied. During such absence the employee may utilize any accumulated sick leave, vacation, holiday and compensatory time.

19.7 Use of Sick Leave While on Vacation

An employee who is injured or becomes ill while on vacation may be paid for sick leave in lieu of vacation provided that the employee: (1) was hospitalized during the period for which sick leave is claimed, or (2) received medical treatment or diagnosis and presents a statement indicating illness or disability signed by a physician covering the period for which sick leave is claimed, or (3) was preparing for or attending the funeral of a member of the immediate family. No request to be paid for sick leave in lieu of vacation will be considered unless such request is made and the above substantiation is provided within the pay period during which the employee returns to work.

19.8 Sick Leave During Holiday

Paid holidays shall not be considered as part of any period of sick leave, unless the employee is scheduled to work on that holiday.

19.9 Catastrophic Leave

Leave credits may be transferred from one or more donating employees to another receiving employee under the following conditions:

(1) The receiving employee is a permanent full or part-time employee whose participation has been approved by their department head;

- (2) The receiving employee or the receiving employee's spouse/domestic partner or direct family member has sustained a life threatening or debilitating illness, injury or condition. (The Department Head may require that the condition be confirmed by a doctor's report);
- (3) The receiving employee has or will have exhausted all paid time off;
- (4) The receiving employee must be prevented from returning to work for at least 30 days and must have applied for a medical leave of absence.

Transferring Time

Vacation and holiday time may be transferred by employees in all work groups. Comp time may be transferred only by employees in work groups 1, 4, and 5. Sick leave may be transferred at the rate of one hour of sick leave for every four hours of other time (i.e., holiday, vacation, or comp time). Donated time will be converted from the type of leave given to sick leave and credited to the receiving employee's sick leave balance on an hour-for-hour basis and shall be paid at the rate of pay of the receiving employee. Donations must be a minimum of 8 hours and thereafter in whole hour increments. The total leave credits received by the employee shall normally not exceed three months; however, if approved by the department head, the total leave credits received may be up to a maximum of one year.

Donations shall be made on a Catastrophic Leave Time Grant form signed by the donating employee and approved by the receiving employee's department head. Once posted, these donations are irrevocable except in the event of the untimely death of a Catastrophic Leave recipient, in which event, any excess leave will be returned to donating employees on a last in-first out basis (i.e., excess leave returned to the last employee(s) to have donated).

Appeal Rights

Employees denied participation in the program by the department head may appeal to the Human Resources Director and the County Manager whose decision shall be final.

Section 20. Leaves of Absence

20.1 General

Employees shall not be entitled to leaves of absence as a matter of right, but only in accordance with the provisions of law and the County Ordinance Code. Unless otherwise provided, the granting of a leave of absence also grants to the employee the right to return to a position in the same or equivalent class, in the same department as held at the time the leave was granted. The granting of any leave of absence shall be based on the presumption that the employee intends to return to work upon the expiration of the leave. However, if a disability retirement application has been filed with the County Board of Retirement a leave may be granted pending decision by that Board. Nothing is this Section 20 shall abridge an employee's rights under the Family and Medical Leave Act.

Total Period of Leave: Except for Disability Leaves as provided above and in Section 20.4 (2) (c), no leave of absence or combination of leaves of absence when taken consecutively, shall exceed a total period of 26 biweekly pay periods.

Approval and Appeals: Initial approval or disapproval of any leave of absence shall be by the department head; leaves of absence of more than 2 biweekly pay periods must also be approved by the Human Resources Director. Denials in whole or in part at the department head level may be appealed to the Human

Resources Director whose decision shall be final.

20.2 Benefit Entitlement

Employees on leaves of absence without pay for more than one (1) month shall not be entitled to payment by the County of their health, dental, vision, life or long term salary continuation insurance premiums, except as provided hereinafter. Entitlement to County payment of premiums shall end on the last day of the month in which the employee was absent one (1) full calendar month. An employee granted a leave of absence without pay due to their illness or accident shall be entitled to have one (1) month of the County's contribution to insurance premiums paid by the County for each year of County service, or major fraction thereof, to a maximum of twelve (12) months payment of premiums.

Where applicable, payment of the County's portion of the insurance premiums described in this Section 20.2 shall count concurrently toward fulfillment of statutory requirements for payment of the County's contributions toward health insurance, such as under the Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA), California Family Rights Act (CFRA), California Pregnancy Disability Leave (PDL), and military leave.

20.3 Seniority Rights and Salary Adjustments

Authorized absence without pay for either: (1) a leave of absence for personal reasons; (2) a leave of absence on account of illness or injury not compensated through Worker's Compensation benefits; or (3) a leave of absence to fill an unexpired term in an elective office shall not be included in determining salary adjustment rights or any seniority rights based on length of employment.

20.4 Job Incurred Disability Leave

- (1) Job Incurred Disability Leave With Pay
 - (A) Definition: Disability leave with pay is an employee's absence from duty with pay due to disability caused by illness or injury arising out of and in the course of employment which has been declared compensable under the Workers' Compensation Law. Only permanent or probationary employees occupying permanent positions are eligible for disability leave with pay.
 - (B) Payment: Payment of disability leave shall be at the base pay of the employee and shall be reduced by the amount of temporary disability indemnity received pursuant to Workers' Compensation Law.
 - (C) Application for and Approval of Job Incurred Disability Leave With Pay: In order to receive pay for disability leave, an employee must submit a request on the prescribed form to the appointing authority describing the illness or accident and all information required for the department head to evaluate the request. The employee must attach a statement from a physician certifying to the nature, extent and probable period of illness or disability. No job incurred disability leave with pay may be granted until the State Compensation Insurance Fund or County Workers Compensation Adjuster has declared the illness or injury compensable under Workers Compensation Law and has accepted liability on behalf of the County, or the Workers Compensation Appeals Board has ordered benefits to be paid.
 - (D) Length of Job Incurred Disability Leave With Pay: Eligible Safety employees, as defined in the Government Code and in determinations made by the San Mateo County Board of Retirement, shall be entitled to disability leave for the period of incapacity as determined by a physician, but not to exceed a maximum of 26 biweekly pay periods. Holidays falling within the period of disability shall extend the maximum days allowed by the number of such holidays.

(2) Job Incurred Disability Leave Without Pay

- (A) Definition: Disability leave without pay is an employee's absence from duty without County pay due to disability caused by illness or injury arising out of and in the course of employment which has been declared compensable under Workers' Compensation Law. Only permanent or probationary employees occupying permanent positions are eligible for disability leave without pay. Such leave is taken after the disabled employee has used up allowable disability leave with pay, as well as accrued credits for sick leave. At the employee's option, vacation and compensatory time off accruals may also be used.
- (B) Application for and Approval of Job Incurred Disability Leave Without Pay: To receive disability leave without pay an eligible employee must submit a request on the prescribed form to the appointing authority describing the illness or accident and all information required for the appointing authority to evaluate the request. The employee must attach a physician's statement certifying to the nature, extent and probable period of illness or disability.
- (C) Length and Amount of Job Incurred Disability Leave Without Pay: Job incurred disability leave without pay may not exceed a maximum of two years for eligible Safety members of the Retirement System for anyone injury. The combined total of disability leave with pay and disability leave without pay for one accident or illness may not exceed this two year period. If an employee is disabled and is receiving Workers' Compensation benefits this leave may be extended as long as such disability continues.

20.5 Leave of Absence Without Pay

- (1) Qualifying: Only permanent or probationary employees in permanent positions are eligible for leaves of absence without pay under this Section.
- (2) Granting of Leaves of Absence Without Pay: Appointing authorities may grant leave of absence without pay for personal reasons up to a maximum of two biweekly pay periods.
- (3) Leaves of Absence Without Pay for Non-Job Incurred Illness or Injury: Leaves of absence without pay for non-job incurred illness or injury, including disabilities caused or contributed to by pregnancy, miscarriage, abortion, childbirth and recovery therefore may be granted for a maximum of 26 full biweekly pay periods. Such leaves will be granted only after all accrued sick leave has been used and must be substantiated by a physician's statement.
- (4) Parental Leave: An employee/parent of either sex may be granted a leave of absence without pay for the purpose of fulfilling parenting responsibilities during the period of one year following the child's birth, or one year following the filing of application for adoption and actual arrival of child in the home. Such leave shall be for a maximum period of 13 biweekly pay periods. Use of accrued vacation, sick, compensatory time or holiday credits shall not be a pre-condition for the granting of such parental leave.
- (5) Leaves of Absence Without Pay for Personal Reasons: Leaves of absence without pay on account of personal reasons may be granted for a maximum period of 13 full biweekly pay periods. Such leaves shall only be granted after all accrued vacation and holiday credits have been used.

20.6 Military Leaves of Absence

The provisions of the Military and Veterans Code of the State of California shall govern military leave of County employees.

20.7 Absence Due to Required Attendance in Court

Upon approval by the department head, any employee, other than extra help or seasonal, shall be permitted absence from duty for appearance in Court because of jury service, in obedience to subpoena or by direction of proper authority, in accordance with the following provisions:

- (1) Absence from duty will be with full pay to a maximum of eight (8) hours for each day the employee serves on the jury or testifies as a witness in a criminal case, other than as a defendant, including necessary travel time. As a condition of receiving such full pay, the employee must remit to the County Treasurer, through the employee's department head, within 15 days after receipt, all fees received except those specifically allowed for mileage and expenses.
- (2) Attendance in Court in connection with an employee's usual official duties or in connection with a case in which the County of San Mateo is a party, together with travel time necessarily involved, shall not be considered absence from duty within the meaning of this Section.
- (3) Absence from duty will be without pay when the employee appears in private litigation to which the County of San Mateo is not party.
- (4) Any fees allowed, except for reimbursement of expenses incurred, shall be remitted to the County Treasurer through the employee's department head.
- (5) An employee required to appear in court in a matter unrelated to their County job duties or because of civil or administrative proceedings that they initiated does not receive compensation for time spent related to those proceedings. An employee may request to receive time off using vacation, compensatory, holiday or voluntary time off if accrued balances are available, or will be in an unpaid status, for time spent related to these proceedings. The time spent in these proceedings is not considered work time. This provision does not apply to grievance proceedings pursuant to this MOU, San Mateo County Civil Service Commission proceedings, EAP or Peninsula Conflict Resolution Center (PCRC) mediation proceedings, or administrative proceedings related to the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act or the MOU between the parties.
- (6) Notification to their supervisor is required within one business day of receipt of a subpoena or summons to appear.

20.8 Absence Without Leave

- (1) Refusal of Leave or Failure to Return After Leave: Failure to report for duty after a leave of absence request has been disapproved, revoked or canceled by the appointing authority, or at the expiration of a leave, shall be considered an absence without leave.
- (2) Absence Without Leave: Absence from duty without leave for any length of time without an explanation satisfactory to the appointing authority is cause for dismissal. Absence without leave for four or more consecutive days without an explanation satisfactory to the appointing authority shall be deemed a tender of resignation. If within thirty days after the first day of absence without leave a person makes an explanation satisfactory to the Board of Supervisors, the Board may reinstate such person.

20.9 Educational Leave of Absence With Pay

Educational leave of absence with pay may be granted to employees under the conditions specified in this

Section. In order to be granted educational leave of absence with pay employees must submit on the prescribed form a request to the appointing authority containing all information required to evaluate the request. The County may, after approval of an employee's application, grant leave of absence with pay for a maximum of sixty-five (65) working days during any fifty-two (52) biweekly pay periods for the purpose of attending a formal training or educational course of study. Eligibility for such leaves will be limited to employees with at least thirteen (13) biweekly pay periods of continuous service and who are not extra help, temporary or seasonal. Such leaves will be granted only in cases where there is a reasonable expectation that the employee's work performance or value to the County will be enhanced as a result of the course of study. Courses taken as part of a program of study for a college undergraduate or graduate degree will be evaluated individually for job-relatedness under the above described criteria. The employee must agree in writing to continue working for the County for at least the following minimum periods of time after expiration of the leave of absence:

Length of Leave of Absence	Period of Obligated Employment
44 to 65 workdays	Fifty-two biweekly pay periods
22 to 43 workdays	Twenty-six biweekly pay periods
6 to 21 workdays	Thirteen biweekly pay periods

Section 21. Hospitalization and Medical Care

21.1 Medical Insurance

(a) Employees Assigned to Work Eighty (80) Hours Per Pay Period:

The County pays eighty-five percent (85%) of the total premium for the County-offered group HMO and High Deductible Health plans (employees pay fifteen percent (15%) of the total premium.

For full time employees enrolled in the High Deductible Health Plan, the County will annually contribute fifty percent (50%) of the cost of the deductible amount for the plan to a Health Savings Account.

The County pays seventy-five percent (75%) of the total premium for the County-offered group PPO plan (employees pay twenty-five percent (25%) of the total premium).

(b) Employees Occupying Permanent Part-Time Positions Who Work Less Than Eighty (80) Hours Per Pay Period:

For employees occupying permanent part-time positions, who work a minimum of forty (40), but less than sixty (60) hours in a biweekly pay period, the County will pay one-half (1/2) of the County contribution to hospital and medical care premiums described above.

For employees occupying permanent part-time positions who work a minimum of sixty (60) but less than eighty (80) hours in a biweekly pay period, or qualify for health benefits under the Affordable Care Act (ACA) the County will pay eighty-five percent (85%) of the County-offered group High Deductible Health Plan (HDHP) or three-fourths (3/4) of the County contribution to hospital and medical care premiums described above.

For part time employees working half time or more who are enrolled in the High Deductible Health Plan, the County will annually contribute a pro-rated amount of fifty percent (50%) of the cost of the deductible amount for the plan to a Health Savings Account, based on the employee's part time status.

(c) Healthcare Legislation Changes

Upon request from the County or Union, the parties will reopen Section 21 during the term of the agreement to address changes (including changes to taxation) under the Affordable Care Act or other healthcare legislation.

21.2 Retiree Health

21.2.1 Retiree Medical Trust

Effective February 5, 2023, the Association will establish participation in the retiree medical expense reimbursement plan administered by the PORAC Retiree Medical Trust ("Trust"), to which the County and employees contribute to save, on a nontaxable basis, money to help pay the cost of eligible medical expenses after terminating from County employment. The Trust is intended to constitute a "health reimbursement arrangement" within the meaning of IRS Notice 2002-45.

The cost of establishing the Trust shall be at no cost to the County. The County is not a party to the Trust. Participation in the Trust shall be the complete and sole responsibility of the Association. Aside from transferring funds, the County has no obligations to the management, regulatory compliance or performance of the Trust. In the event the Trust becomes insolvent or unable to pay, the County has no financial obligation to the Trust, the employees covered by this Agreement, or the Association, including no obligation to provide a lifetime benefit to employees covered by this Agreement.

The Association agrees to defend, indemnify and hold the County, its agents, officers, and employees harmless from any liability of any nature which may arise as a result of employee participation in the PORAC RMT, including any and all claims or legal proceedings regarding the operation of the Trust, except for the obligation of the County to make and report employee and County contributions to the Trust as described in this MOU.

The monies contributed to the Trust on behalf of employees and retirees shall only be used for the sole purpose of providing funding for retiree health insurance premiums or reimbursement of retiree health care expenses, as permitted by law. The employee assumes full responsibility and liability for tax consequences related to contributions to and/or withdrawals from the PORAC Retiree Medical Trust. There shall be no employee election or option to take the contribution amount in cash. The Trust shall be and remain separate and apart from any of the County's health insurance funding programs.

A. Contributions

The following contributions will be made to the Trust on behalf of each employee:

1. County Contributions:

Effective February 5, 2023, for employees hired on or after February 5, 2023 who achieve five (5) years of continuous regular full-time service with the County, the County will contribute fifty dollars (\$50) per month to each employee's account. In recognition of the first five (5) years of regular full-time service, upon the employee reaching such anniversary, the County will deposit in the Trust a

lump sum of three thousand dollars (\$3,000) which is equivalent to fifty dollars (\$50) for every month of service following February 5, 2023 up to the employee's five (5) year anniversary.

County contributions to the Trust will be made only during periods for which the employee is receiving County compensation. For example, an employee on unpaid leave will not be entitled to such County contributions. In addition, the \$50 County contribution amount will apply to full-time employees; the contribution amounts for less-than-full-time employees will be pro-rated according to those employees' work schedules.

Upon an employee's separation from employment with the County, the County will cease contributions to the Trust on behalf of that individual.

Employees will have no vested right in ongoing County contributions to the Trust. The contributions may be increased, decreased or frozen at any time in accordance with future MOU's.

2. Mandatory Employee Contributions:

Three types of employee contributions will be made to the Trust, as specified below. These employee contributions are mandatory. No employee will have any right to elect to receive cash or any benefit in lieu of the contributions. The contribution amount for employees represented by the Organization of Sheriffs Sergeants (OSS) will not exceed the contribution amount for employees represented by the DSA.

- a. Regular Contribution: Effective February 5, 2023, each employee regardless of hire date will contribute one hundred dollars (\$100) per month to the employee's Trust. These contributions will be deducted from the employee's County compensation. The contribution amounts specified in this paragraph will apply to full-time employees; contribution amounts for less-than-full-time employees will be pro-rated according to those employees' work schedules. Contributions to the plan must be uniform across bargaining unit members. The Association may notify the County as to changes to employee contributions; the frequency of contribution changes is subject to approval by the Trust.
- b. Unused Vacation Accruals: At separation from County service, fifty percent (50%) of the employee's earned and unused vacation will be cashed out and deposited into the employee's Trust; except if the employee dies while in County employment, then vacation accruals will not be deposited into the employee's Trust and will instead be converted to cash and distributed to the employee's estate.
- c. Converted Old Sick Leave for Employees Hired Before February 5, 2023. Upon retirement from County service, contributions of "old" sick leave will be made to an eligible employee's Trust subject to the terms and conditions specified below.

B. Vesting

An employee's Trust contributions, including any allocable investment earnings, are 100% vested at all times.

To become vested in the County's contributions to the Trust, an employee must complete five (5) years of continuous, full time (or full time equivalent), paid County employment in a regular position. A break in service of twenty-eight (28) days or more will result in the exclusion of prior service in calculation of the employee's Trust vesting service requirement. If an employee's County employment terminates before completion of five (5) years of continuous County employment, all County contributions to the employee's Trust, including any allocable investment earnings, will be forfeited.

C. Distributions

After an employee retires from County employment, the employee's Trust funds may be used for any eligible medical expenses incurred by the employee, the employee's spouse, or the employee's eligible dependents. "Eligible medical expenses" are expenses described in section 213(d) of the Internal Revenue Code, as amended from time to time, including but not limited to, qualifying insurance premiums. Trust funds may not be used for any other purpose.

In accordance with the federal tax laws, any Trust benefits cannot be provided with respect to a Trust participant's registered domestic partner, and thus such payments must be made out of pocket.

In addition, the use of the Trust funds will be subject to the terms of the governing Trust plan document.

The parties acknowledge that the Trust plan will be subject to non-discrimination testing. Non-compliance with non-discrimination rules may result in taxation of discriminatory coverage. In the event of taxation of discriminatory coverage, the parties will reevaluate and negotiate changes to the plan design to comply with non-discrimination rules.

21.2.2 Old" Sick Leave Conversion

The following terms apply to employees hired by the County before February 5, 2023:

- A. Effective February 5, 2023, all employees hired before February 5, 2023 will contribute two and eighttenths percent (2.8%) of the employee's base wage rate each pay period for the duration of their employment with the County, to the County to offset the costs of retiree medical benefits described herein. These contributions are mandatory.
- B. "Old" sick leave will be defined as sick leave earned before February 5, 2023. Old Sick Leave will cease to accrue as of February 5, 2023 ("transition date"). For employees hired by the County before February 5, 2023, old sick leave accrued and unused as of February 5, 2023, with the exception of one hundred ninety-two (192) hours, will be removed from the employee's sick leave bank. A record of the number of frozen hours of old sick leave will be kept on file with the County, pending the employee's retirement from County service.
- C. Employees hired before February 5, 2023will retain up to one hundred ninety-two (192) hours of accrued, unused Old Sick Leave in their sick leave bank to use as needed.
 - 1. Employees hired before February 5, 2023 who take long-term, FMLA, CFRA or disability (including pregnancy disability) leaves of absence on or after February 5, 2023, who exhaust their one hundred ninety-two (192) hours of Old Sick Leave hours, as well as their New Sick Leave

- accrued after February 5, 2023, will be permitted to use additional hours of Old Sick Leave upon request for sick leave purposes listed in this MOU.
- 2. Employees hired before February 5, 2023 who have less than one hundred ninety-two (192) hours of accrued, unused Old Sick Leave in their sick leave bank will retain remaining Old Sick Leave in their sick leave bank to use as needed.
- D. For the purpose of this Section 21.2.2 only, prior years of service with Half Moon Bay Police Department, Millbrae Police Department and San Carlos Police Department immediately prior to such cities contracting with the County for law enforcement services will count toward the calculation of County Service.
- E. A break in service of twenty-eight (28) days or more will result in the exclusion of prior service in the calculation of hire date and service time for the purpose of this section.
- F. "Severed by reason of retirement" is defined as an employee retiring and drawing pension benefits from SamCERA simultaneous with separation from the County employment.

Retirement from County service is defined as drawing SamCERA pension benefits via a service or disability retirement immediately upon separation from the County.

If an employee separates from County service without retiring and does not return to County service within twenty-eight (28) days or less, the employee will forfeit all converted "old" sick leave amounts listed in this section, and will forfeit entitlement to all retiree health benefits described herein, except for vested contributions to the Trust. The employee will not receive any Trust contributions or other benefit with respect to the forfeited amounts.

G. For Employees Hired By The County Before February 5, 2023 With Less Than Fifteen (15) Years Of Service Whose Employment With The County Is Severed By Reason Of Retirement:

For employees hired prior to February 5, 2023 whose employment with the County is severed by reason of retirement during the term of this MOU, and who have less than fifteen (15) years of continuous, full-time regular service at retirement, the County will contribute to the Trust on behalf of the retiree in the amount of the employee's unused, frozen, "old" sick leave at the time of retirement on the following basis:

- For Tier 1 employees (defined as employees hired by the County prior to April 1, 2011 (except for those employees described in Tier 2 below) who maintain continuous County service without a break in service of more than twenty-eight (28) days), who retire from the County on or after February 5, 2023, each eight (8) hours of unused "old" sick leave at the time of retirement from County service will be converted to six hundred seventy-five dollars (\$675).
- For Tier 2 employees (defined as employees hired by the County between July 1, 2011 and February 5, 2023, and employees hired before April 1, 2011 who made a prior, irrevocable election to go into Tier 2, who maintain continuous County service without a break in service of more than twenty-eight (28) days), who retire from the County on or after February 5, 2023, each eight (8) hours of unused "old" sick leave at the time of retirement from County service will be converted to four hundred dollars (\$400).

The remaining one hundred ninety-two (192) hours of "old" sick leave will be maintained in the employee's sick leave bank to use as sick leave. Upon retirement from County service concurrent with separation from the County, the County will deposit any of the remaining, unused portion of the one hundred ninety-two (192) hours of "old" sick leave into the retiree's Trust, using the following conversion formula:

- For Tier 1 employees, each eight (8) hours of unused "old" sick leave at the time of retirement from County service will be converted to six hundred seventy-five dollars (\$675).
- For Tier 2 employees, each eight (8) hours of unused "old" sick leave at the time of retirement from County service will be converted to four hundred dollars (\$400).

Following retirement, retirees and dependents will have only one opportunity to enroll in County medical, dental and vision insurance plans. If the retiree and/or their dependents opt out of any of the above benefits following enrollment, the individual will not have an opportunity to opt back in to County medical, dental and vision insurance plans at a later date. Nothing in this section prohibits a retiree from using the benefit(s) and amounts outlined above towards a market-based plan (non-county plan) should the retiree elect to do so, either at the time of retirement, or at a later date.

H. For Employees Hired By The County Before February 5, 2023 Whose Employment with the County is Severed by Reason of Retirement, Who Retire with Between Fifteen (15) and Twenty Years Of Service:

For an employee hired before February 5, 2023, who has between fifteen (15) and twenty (20) years of County service, and whose employment with the County is severed by reason of retirement:

- 1. From the date of retirement until the retiree reaches the age of Medicare eligibility, the County will contribute five hundred dollars (\$500) per month to the retiree for the purchase of medical, dental and vision insurance through the County health plans. For retirees not enrolled in County benefit plans, the County will deposit the \$500 into the Trust on behalf of the retiree on a monthly basis.
 - a. If the retiree passes away before the age of 65, the benefits payable to a surviving spouse will be two hundred fifty dollars (\$250) per month paid until the retiree would have reached the age of Medicare eligibility; except, if the retiree passes away before the age of 65, and the retiree's surviving spouse has one or more dependent(s), the benefits payable to a surviving spouse will be four hundred dollars (\$400) per month paid until the retiree would have reached the age of Medicare eligibility.
 - b. Retirees who retire at or after age 65 (the age of Medicare eligibility) will not be eligible to receive any portion of the pre-65 benefit.
- 2. When the retiree reaches the age of Medicare eligibility, the County contributions specified herein will cease.
- 3. Following retirement, retirees and dependents will have only one opportunity to enroll in County medical, dental and vision insurance plans. If the retiree and/or their dependents opt out of any of the above benefits following enrollment, the individual will not have an opportunity to opt back in to County medical, dental and vision insurance plans at a later date. Nothing in this section prohibits a retiree from using the benefit(s) and amounts outlined above towards a market-based plan (non-county plan) should the retiree elect to do so, either at the time of retirement, or at a later date.
- 4. For retirees enrolled in County benefit plans, the County will contribute the contribution specified in Section 21.2.2(H)(1) toward the benefit premiums for the County medical, dental and vision benefits elected by the retiree and qualified dependents. If the cost of the premium(s) is greater

- than the County's contribution, the retiree will be required to pay the difference through an automatic ACH bank withdrawal. If the cost of the premium(s) is less than the County's contribution, the County will deposit the difference in the retiree's Trust.
- 5. At the time of retirement, the County will deposit into the Trust on behalf of the retiree an amount equal to fifty percent (50%) of the unused, frozen Old Sick Leave hours (plus fifty percent (50%) of any remaining, unused hours from the 192 hours of old sick leave left in the employee's sick leave bank as of the transition date), multiplied by the rate of employee's base hourly wage.
- I. For Employees Hired By The County Before February 5, 2023 Whose Employment with the County is Severed by Reason of Retirement, Who Retire with Twenty or More Years Of Service: For an employee hired before February 5, 2023, who has twenty (20) or more years of County service, and whose employment with the County is severed by reason of retirement:
 - 1. From the date of retirement until the retiree reaches the age of Medicare eligibility, the County will contribute one thousand dollars (\$1,000) per month to the retiree for the purchase of medical, dental and vision insurance through the County health plans. For retirees not enrolled in County benefit plans, the County will deposit the \$1,000 into the Trust on the retiree's behalf on a monthly basis.
 - a. If the retiree passes away before the age of 65, the benefits payable to a surviving spouse will be five hundred dollars (\$500) per month paid until the retiree would have reached the age of Medicare eligibility; except, if the retiree passes away before the age of 65, and the retiree's surviving spouse has one or more dependent(s), the benefits payable to a surviving spouse will be eight hundred dollars (\$800) per month paid until the retiree would have reached the age of Medicare eligibility.
 - b. Retirees who retire at or after age 65 (the age of Medicare eligibility) will not be eligible to receive any portion of the pre-65 benefit.
 - 2. When the retiree reaches the age of Medicare eligibility, the County contributions specified herein will cease.
 - 3. Following retirement, retirees and dependents will have only one opportunity to enroll in County medical, dental and vision insurance plans. If the retiree and/or their dependents opt out of any of the above benefits following enrollment, the individual will not have an opportunity to opt back in to County medical, dental and vision insurance plans at a later date. Nothing in this section prohibits a retiree from using the benefit(s) and amounts outlined above towards a market-based plan (non-county plan) should the retiree elect to do so, either at the time of retirement, or at a later date.
 - 4. For retirees enrolled in County benefit plans, the County will contribute the contribution specified in Section 21.2.2(I)(1) toward the benefit premiums for the County medical, dental and vision benefits elected by the retiree and qualified dependents. If the cost of the premium(s) is greater than the County's contribution, the retiree will be required to pay the difference through an automatic ACH bank withdrawal. If the cost of the premium(s) is less than the County's contribution, the County will deposit the difference in the retiree's Trust.
 - 5. At the time of retirement, the County will deposit an amount into the Trust on behalf of the retiree equal to fifty percent (50%) of the unused, frozen Old Sick Leave hours (plus fifty percent (50%) of any remaining, unused hours from the 192 hours of old sick leave left in the employee's sick leave bank as of the transition date), multiplied by the rate of employee's base hourly wage.
 - 6. For Tier 2 employees who retire from County service with twenty (20) or more years of service, the County will deposit into the Trust on behalf of the retiree fifty percent (50%) of the equivalent of two hundred eighty-eight (288) hours of "old" sick leave), multiplied by the rate of employee's base hourly wage into the retiree's Trust.

Effective February 5, 2023, "old" sick leave with a conversion value to retiree health dollars will cease to accrue for all employees.

21.3 The surviving spouse or registered domestic partner of an active employee hired before February 5, 2023 who dies may, if they elect a retirement allowance, convert the employee's accrued sick leave to the above specified limits providing that the employee was age fifty-five (55) or over with at least twenty (20) years of continuous service.

Section 22. Dental Care

The County shall contribute a sum equal to ninety percent (90%) of the premium for the County Plan and the Delta Dental Plan for employees and eligible dependents, including young adult dependents and domestic partners. All employees must participate in one of these plans.

Section 23. Vision Care

The County shall provide Vision care coverage for employees and eligible dependents including young adult dependents and domestic partners. The County will pay the entire premium for this coverage.

Section 24. Change in Employee Benefit Plans

24.1 Benefits Committee

During the term of this MOU, the County and Unions shall convene the Benefits Committee for the following purposes:

- A. To continue ongoing discussions regarding cost structures as a part of an overall strategy to maintain balanced enrollment in County plans,
- B. To investigate the feasibility of revising medical and/or dental coverage and/or plan(s) and strategies to integrate wellness program participation into benefit insurance cost structure, and
- C. To address legislative changes to health insurance legislation, including, but not limited to, the Affordable Care Act.

The Benefits Committee will be composed of County and labor representatives, not to exceed two (2) representatives from each participating labor organization and four (4) County representatives.

24.2 Agreement Implementation

Agreements reached as part of the Benefits Committee may be implemented outside of negotiations if employee organizations representing a majority of employees agree, providing, however, all employee organizations are given an opportunity to meet and confer regarding such agreements.

Section 25. Life Insurance

- 25.1 The County shall pay group life insurance premiums for the following plans:
 - A. Life insurance for each employee with a maximum benefit amount of fifty thousand dollars (\$50,000);
 - B. Life insurance for the employee's spouse or registered domestic partner with a maximum benefit amount of two thousand dollars (\$2000); and
 - C. Life insurance for each of the employee's children depending on age up to a maximum benefit amount of two thousand dollars (\$2000).

- D. The County shall provide additional life insurance payable to the employee's beneficiary if the employee's death results from an accident either on or off the job up to a maximum benefit amount of one hundred ten thousand dollars (\$110,000).
- 25.2 Employees, depending on pre-qualification, may purchase additional term life insurance to a maximum benefit of seven hundred fifty thousand dollars (\$750,000) for employee, two hundred fifty thousand dollars (\$250,000) for spouse or registered domestic partner, and ten thousand dollars (\$10,000) for each qualifying dependent.

Section 26. Uniform Allowance/Safety Equipment

26.1 Employees in the Sheriff's Office who must provide their own uniform and equipment shall receive an amount per annum in additional compensation to cover the cost of maintaining such uniforms and equipment. For new employees, such payment shall be made on the regular pay warrant that covers each new employee's date of employment. For current employees, such payment shall be made on the pay warrant for the first full pay period of each January, as follows:

2023: \$1,300 2024: \$1,400 2025: \$1,500

26.2 The County will provide bulletproof vests to department personnel consistent with departmental general order.

Section 27. Promotion

27.1 Examinations

- (1) Open Examinations: Any person who meets the minimum qualifications for the job class may compete.
- (2) General Promotional Examinations: Permanent and probationary employees who have served at least 6 months in such status prior to the date of the exam are eligible to compete. Persons who have been laid off whose names are on a reemployment list are also eligible provided they had served at least 6 months prior to layoff.
- (3) Departmental Promotional Examinations: Permanent and probationary employees of the specific department in which a promotional opportunity exists who have served at least 6 months in such status prior to the date of the exam are eligible to compete. Persons who have been laid off whose names appear on the appropriate departmental reemployment eligible list are also eligible provided they had served at least 6 months prior to layoff.
- (4) Open and Promotional Examinations: Any person who meets the minimum qualifications for the job class may compete. In addition, any person competing in this type of an examination, and who meets the criteria described in (2) above, shall have 5 points added to the final passing score.
- (5) Veterans' preference shall not apply to promotional examinations.

27.2 Promotional Eligible Lists

(1) General Promotional Eligible Lists: The names of applicants successful in general promotional

examinations shall be placed on general promotional eligible lists for the classes examined.

- (2) Departmental Promotional Eligible Lists: The names of applicants successful in departmental promotional examinations shall be placed on departmental promotional eligible lists for the classes examined.
- (3) These lists shall take precedence over General Eligible Lists.
- (4) If, at the time of termination, an employee's name appears on a promotional eligible list their name shall be removed from the promotional list and placed on the open competitive eligible list for that class in accordance with their final score.

27.3 Probationary Period

Permanent employees who are promoted to a higher class shall undergo the probationary period prescribed for the higher class, but shall have the right to demote to their former class in their former department if rejected during their probationary period if a vacancy in their former class exists. If no vacancy exists, such employees shall be placed in the longest standing vacancy, as determined by the requisition form date, Countywide. If no vacancy exists, such employees shall displace the least senior employee as determined by Rule XVI. If no less senior position exists, then the employee shall be removed from County service.

Section 28. Reallocation of Position

Upon reclassification of filled positions, the Human Resources Director shall determine whether the action constitutes an upward, lateral or downward movement of the level of the position.

- (1) Downward: The incumbent will be assigned to a vacant position in the same department in the same class previously held. In lieu of reassignment, incumbents may accept a demotion in the reallocated position. If neither of these options are exercised, the layoff procedure in the Civil Service rules will be employed.
- (2) Lateral: The status of the incumbent will remain unchanged in the class to which the position is reallocated.
- (3) Upward: The Human Resources Director will grant status to the incumbent when either: 1) there has been no essential change in the duties and responsibilities of the position during the individual's incumbency; or 2) there has been a gradual change in the duties and the incumbent has satisfactorily performed the higher level tasks for at least 6 months. If neither of the conditions listed above exist, the incumbent may be transferred, demoted, laid off or compete for the reallocated position as specified in the Civil Service Rules.

Section 29. Change of Assigned Duties

No employee shall be required regularly to perform duties of a position outside of the class to which appointed. However, employees may be assigned temporarily duties outside their classes. In addition, under the conditions described in the Rules of the Civil Service Commission, a department head may temporarily assign to employees whatever duties are necessary to meet the requirements of an emergency situation.

Section 30. Pay for Work-Out-of-Classification

When an employee has been assigned in writing by the department head or designated representative to perform the work of a permanent position having a different class and being paid at a higher rate, and if they have worked

in such class for five (5) consecutive workdays, they shall be entitled to payment for the higher class, as prescribed for promotions in subsection 6.6 of this MOU, retroactive to the first workday and continuing during the period of temporary assignment, under the conditions specified below:

- (1) The assignment is caused by the incumbent's temporary or permanent absence;
- (2) The employee performs the duties regularly performed by the absent incumbent and such duties are clearly not included in the job description of their regular class;
- (3) The temporary assignment to work out of classification which extends beyond twenty working days be approved by the Human Resources Director, a copy of the approval form to be given to the employee; and
- (4) A copy of the department head's written approval must be submitted in advance to Human Resources. If Human Resources does not approve pay for work in the higher class which exceeds twenty (20) workdays, the employee will be so notified and have the opportunity to discuss this matter with the Human Resources Director whose decision shall be final.

Section 31. Probationary Period

31.1 Probationary employees shall undergo a probationary period of six (6) months unless a longer period is prescribed by the Civil Service Commission for their classes. Individual probationary periods may be extended with good cause upon request of the department head and concurrence of the Human Resources Director; however, no probationary period shall exceed twelve (12) months except as stipulated below. If an employee is incapacitated due to medical conditions and is reassigned to work that is not part of their normal duties, the probation period for the primary job will be extended for the duration of the reassignment. The employee shall be notified in writing of the probationary extension at the time of the reassignment. Certain positions in the unit may have probation periods established by the Civil Service Commission of eighteen (18) months. If an employee is incapacitated due to medical conditions and is reassigned to work that is not part of their normal duties, the probation period for the primary job will be extended for the duration of the reassignment. If an employee is in a class that has an eighteen (18) month probation period there shall be no extension.

Time worked by an employee in a temporary, extra help, or provisional status shall not count towards completion of the probationary period. The probationary period shall start from the date of probationary appointment.

- 31.2 An employee who is not rejected prior to the completion of the prescribed probationary period shall acquire permanent status automatically. Former permanent employees appointed from a re-employment eligible list shall be given permanent appointments when reemployed. Permanent employees who are demoted to a lower class shall be given permanent appointments in the lower class.
- 31.3 An employee who is laid off and subsequently appointed as a result of certification from a general employment eligible list to a position in a different class than that from which laid off shall undergo the probationary period prescribed for the class to which appointed. Former probationary employees whose names were placed on a reemployment eligible list before they achieved permanent status shall start a new probationary period when appointed from a reemployment eligible list.
- 31.4 The appointing authority may terminate probationary employees at any time during the probationary period without right of appeal in any manner and without recourse to the procedures provided in Section 32, except when the employee alleges the termination was due to discrimination prohibited by county, state or federal

statutes or regulations. If discrimination is alleged, the appeal or grievance shall be decided solely on the basis of whether or not the termination was due to discrimination; and unless it is determined that there was discrimination, the person or persons hearing the appeal or grievance shall not substitute their judgment for that of the appointing authority. In case of rejections during probationary periods, employees shall be given written notice, with reasons therefore, at once. The Human Resources Director may, upon request by an employee rejected during the probationary period, restore their name to the eligible list for that class. However, the employee's name shall not be certified to the department from which rejected without approval of the department head.

31.5 Permanent employees who transfer to another position in the same class shall not be required to undergo a new probationary period in the position into which transferred. Employees who transfer to a class in another series or in another department may be required by the department head to start a new probationary period. If unsuccessful in the new probationary period, the employee will be terminated from County service. If a new probationary period is a condition for transfer, the employee must sign a statement indicating an understanding of this fact prior to the effective date of the transfer. At the discretion of the Human Resources Director, examinations to demonstrate qualifications may be required before transfers between separate classes can occur.

If a new probationary period is in force, the employee shall have a 28-day window period from the date of transfer to elect to return to their former position. If an employee is rejected at a point beyond the window period and they had prior permanent status, they shall have the right to return to their former department if a vacancy exists. If no vacancy exists, such employees shall be placed in the longest standing vacancy, as determined by the requisition form date, County-wide. If no vacancy exists, such employees shall displace the least senior employee as determined by Rule XVI. If no less senior position exists, the employee shall be removed from County service.

31.6 Probationary employees who are injured on the job and are off work receiving 4850 pay shall have any time off work in excess of 30 days added to their probation period. If an employee has not completed at least 90 days of service, the probation period will start over when the employee returns to work.

Section 32. Dismissal, Suspension Reduction in Step or Demotion for Cause

The appointing authority may dismiss, suspend, reduce in step or demote any employee in the classified service provided the rules and regulations of the Civil Service Commission are followed. An employee may either appeal such dismissal, suspension or demotion to the Civil Service Commission or file a grievance in accordance with subsection 33.2. Appeal to the Civil Service Commission must be filed within the timelines established by the Commission rules. Grievances filed in accordance with subsection 33.2 must be filed within fourteen calendar days after receipt of written charges. No grievance involving demotion, suspension or dismissal of an employee will be entertained unless it is filed in writing with the Human Resources Director within fourteen (14) calendar days of the time at which the affected employee was notified of such action. An employee may not both appeal to the Civil Service Commission and file a grievance under subsection 33.2 of this MOU. A permanent classified employee may be dismissed, suspended or demoted for cause only.

Section 33. Grievance Procedures

33.1 Grievance

A grievance is defined as any dispute which involves the interpretation or application of any provision of this MOU, excluding those provisions of this MOU which specifically provide that the decision of any County official shall be final, the interpretation or application of those provisions shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.

33.2 Grievant

The grievant is defined as the Association or the affected employee. The Association or any employee may file a grievance.

33.3 Grievance Process

The grievance must be filed at either Step 1 or Step 2 within twenty-eight (28) calendar days from the date of the employee's knowledge of the alleged grievance or within fourteen (14) calendar days if grieving a demotion, suspension or dismissal from employment. The grievant shall state the grievance in writing and the resolution desired.

Step 1. Department Head or Designee

The grievant may discuss the complaint with the department head or designee. The department head or designee shall provide the grievant a written or oral response within fourteen (14) calendar days from the grievance meeting. If the grievance is not resolved the grievant may move the grievance to Step 2 within fourteen (14) calendar days from issuance of the written or oral response from the department head or designee. However, all complaints involving or concerning the payment of compensation shall be in writing to the Human Resources Director. If the department head or designee does not provide a written or oral response within the fourteen (14) calendar day timeline, then the grievant may advance the grievance to Step 2.

Step 2. Human Resources Director

Any employee or official of the Association may notify the Human Resources Director in writing that a grievance exists, stating the particulars of the grievance and, if possible, the nature of the determination desired. Such notification must be received within fourteen (14) calendar days of the written or oral response of the department head or designee as described in Step 1. If the grievant did not file a Step 1 grievance but instead proceeded directly to Step 2, then such notification must be received within twenty-eight (28) calendar days from the date of the employee's knowledge of the alleged grievance. Any grievances involving demotion, suspension or dismissal must be received within fourteen (14) calendar days of the above specified action. If appropriate, the parties will then schedule a grievance meeting. The Human Resources Director or designee, who in the case of a grievance alleging discrimination shall be the Equal Employment Manager, shall have thirty-five (35) calendar days from the grievance meeting in which to investigate the merits of the grievance and to provide the grievant a written response. The County will notify the Association if a reasonable extension of this timeline is necessary. If the grievance is not resolved to the satisfaction of the grievant, then the Association may move the grievance to Step 3 within fourteen (14) calendar days from the issuance of the written response from the Human Resources Director or designee. No grievance may be processed under Step 3 which has not first been filed and investigated in accordance with Step 2.

Step 3. Arbitration

Either the Association or the County may require that the grievance be referred to an impartial arbitrator, if the moving party notifies the other in writing of its desire to arbitrate within fourteen (14) calendar days of the issuance of the Step 2 response. Only the Association or the County may maintain the grievance before the arbitrator. The grievance shall be submitted to an arbitrator mutually agreed upon by the parties or, failing mutual agreement, to that arbitrator who is selected by lot from an agreed upon panel. The fees and expenses of the arbitrator and of the court reporter shall be shared equally by the Association and the County. Each party shall bear the costs of its own presentation, including preparation and post-hearing briefs, if any.

33.4 Scope of Arbitration Decisions

(a) Decisions of arbitrators on matters properly before them shall be final and binding on the parties hereto, to the extent permitted by the Charter of the County.

- (b) No arbitrator shall entertain, hear, decide or make recommendations on any dispute unless such dispute involves a position in a unit represented by the Association which has been certified as the recognized employee organization for such unit and unless such dispute falls within the definition of a grievance as set forth in subsection 33.1.
- (c) Proposals to add to or change this MOU or written agreements or addenda supplementary hereto shall not be arbitrable and no proposal to modify, amend or terminate this MOU, nor any matter or subject arising out of or in connection with such proposals, may be referred to arbitration under this Section. The arbitrator shall not have the power to amend or modify this MOU or written agreements or to establish any new terms or conditions of employment.
- (d) If the Human Resources Director or an arbitrator resolves a grievance which involves suspension or discharge, they may agree to payment for lost time or to reinstatement with or without payment for lost time.
- (e) If any award by an arbitrator requires action by the Board of Supervisors or the Civil Service Commission before it can be placed in effect, the County Manager and the Human Resources Director will recommend to the Board of Supervisors or the Civil Service Commission that it follow the award.
- (f) No change in this MOU or interpretations thereof (except interpretations resulting from arbitration proceedings hereunder) will be recognized unless agreed to by the County and the Association.

33.5 Compensation Complaints

Complaints involving or concerning payment of compensation shall be initially filed in writing with Employee Relations. Only complaints which allege employees are not being compensated in accordance with the provisions of this MOU shall be considered as grievances. Any other matters of compensation are to be resolved in the meet and confer process if not detailed in the MOU. No adjustment shall be retroactive for more than 60 days from the date upon which the complaint was filed.

33.6 County Charter and Civil Service Commission

- (a) The provisions of this section shall not abridge any rights to which an employee may be entitled under the County Charter, nor shall it be administered in a manner which would abrogate any power which, under the County Charter, may be within the sole province and discretion of the Civil Service Commission.
- (b) All grievances of employees in representation units represented by the Association shall be processed under this Section. If the County Charter requires that a differing option be available to the employee, no action under Step 2 of subsection 33.3 above shall be taken unless it is determined that the employee is not availing himself/herself of such option.
- (c) No action under Section 33.3 Step 2 shall be taken if action on the complaint or grievance has been taken by the Civil Service Commission or if the complaint or grievance is pending before the Civil Service Commission.

33.7 Involuntary Transfers for the Alleged Purpose of Punishment

Any sworn peace officer in the Sheriff's Department who believes they have been subjected to a transfer for the purpose of punishment may appeal said transfer through the chain of command to the Sheriff (or, in cases where the Sheriff has been personally involved, to the Human Resources Director or designee). In

cases where the transfer involves a loss of compensation, they shall have the option of appealing either to the Sheriff or to an ad hoc panel as described hereafter. All such appeals shall be filed, in writing, within five calendar days after the date of transfer. The following procedure shall apply:

Step 1. Human Resources Department

The employee or any official of the Association shall notify Employee Relations in writing of the alleged punitive transfer. Employee Relations shall have thirty-five (35) calendar days after the meeting in which to investigate and resolve the dispute informally. No appeal may be processed under Step 2 below which has not first been filed and investigated in accordance with Step 1.

Step 2. Advisory Panel

If the parties are unable to satisfactorily resolve the dispute, the employee may have the appeal submitted to a three (3) member panel comprised of two (2) members of the Civil Service Commission and one (1) individual who is not a Commission member. This panel will be charged with the responsibility of making findings of fact and recommendations in connection with the employee's appeal for presentation to the Sheriff and the Human Resources Director. Such recommendations shall be advisory in nature. If the employee elects to have their appeal heard before such a panel, the employee shall choose one (1) Civil Service Commissioner and the Sheriff shall choose a second Commissioner. These two (2) members shall select a third member of the panel, who shall be the panel's chairperson and cannot be a member of the Civil Service Commission. If the two (2) commissioners selected by the employee and the Sheriff cannot agree on a third member, the Human Resources Director shall choose the third member.

Upon conclusion of its hearing the panel shall present its finding of fact and recommendations to the Human Resources Director and Sheriff. If the Sheriff and Director reject the panel recommendation they must so inform the employee, with reasons in writing. Any decision reached by the Sheriff and the Human Resources Director shall be final.

Section 34. Retirement Plan

34.1 Retirement Plan

(a) Employees Hired Before January 8, 2012

Effective January 2, 2005, the County implemented the 3% @ 50 retirement enhancement (Government Code section 31664.1) for employees in Plans 1, 2 or 4. The one year final average compensation for participants in the safety retirement Plan 1 or 2 will be calculated in accordance with Government Code section 31462.1. For those participants in the safety retirement Plan 4 in accordance with Government Code section 31462.

The enhancement will apply to all future safety service and all safety service back to the date of employment pursuant to the Board of Supervisor's authority under Government Code section 31678.2 (a). Government Code section 31678.2(b) authorizes the collection, from employees, of all or part of the contributions by a member or employer or both, that would have been required if either section 31664.1 had been in effect during the time period specified in the resolution adopting section 31664.1, and that the time period specified in the resolution will be all future and past safety service back to the date of employment. Based upon this understanding and agreement, employees will share in the cost of the enhancement through increased retirement contributions by way of payroll deductions and shall contribute a percentage of compensation earnable as defined by SamCERA, in the amounts set forth below:

• Employees with more than 15 years of County service or who are age 45 or older will contribute 4.5%.

- Employees with 5 to 15 years of County service will contribute 3.5%.
- Employees with 0 to 5 years of County service will contribute 3%.

(b) Employees Hired on or after January 8, 2012 through December 31, 2012

Effective January 8, 2012, the County implemented the 3%@55 retirement enhancement (Government Code 31664.2) for employees in Plan 5. For those participants in the safety retirement Plan 5, their three year final average compensation will be calculated in accordance with Government Code section 31462.

The enhancement will apply to all future safety service and all safety service back to the date of employment pursuant to the Board of Supervisors' authority under Government Code section 31678.2 (a). Government Code section 31678.2(b) authorizes the collection, from employees, of all or part of the contributions by a member or employer or both, that would have been required if either section 31664.2 had been in effect during the time period specified in the resolution adopting section 31664.2, and that the time period specified in the resolution will be all future and past safety service back to the date of employment. Based upon this understanding and agreement, employees will share in the cost of the enhancement through increased retirement contributions by way of payroll deductions and shall contribute a percentage of compensation earnable as defined by SamCERA, in the amounts set forth below:

- Employees with more than 15 years of County service or who are age 45 or older will contribute 4 5%
- Employees with 5 to 15 years of County service will contribute 3.5%.
- Employees with 0 to 5 years of County service will contribute 3%.

(c) Employees hired on or after January 1, 2013

Employees hired on or after January 1, 2013 will be placed by SamCERA into Plan 5 or Plan 7 (2.7%@57) (Government Code section 7522.25) depending upon their eligibility.

Plan 5: Employees who are placed in Plan 5 by SamCERA will be subject to the applicable provisions of sections 34.1 (b) and 34.2.

Plan 7: Employees who are placed in Plan 7 by SamCERA will not be subject any provisions in sections 34.1 (b) or 34.2. The County will not make any contributions toward the employees' required contribution to the Retirement System for Plan 7 members.

34.2 Retirement COLA

Effective the first full pay period in July of 2016, all employees, regardless of plan or hire date, will pay a COLA cost share equal to fifty percent (50%) of the retirement COLA costs as determined by SamCERA. Plan 7 members do not pay a separate retirement COLA cost share as the Plan 7 COLA costs are part of the Plan 7 contributions.

Section 35. Deferred Compensation Plan- Automatic Enrollment for New Employees

Subject to applicable federal regulations, the County agrees to provide a deferred compensation plan that allows employees to defer compensation on a pre-tax basis through payroll deduction. Effective January 1, 2016, each new employee will be automatically enrolled in the County's Deferred Compensation program, at the rate of one percent (1%) of their pre-tax wages, unless they choose to opt out or to voluntarily change deferrals to greater than or less than the default one percent (>1%) as allowed in the plan or as allowed by law. The pre-tax deduction will be invested in the target fund associated with the employees' date of birth. All deferrals are fully vested at

the time of deferrals; there will be no waiting periods for vesting rights. Escalation for new employees will be the same as existing employees, as described below.

Effective the first full pay period following Board of Supervisors' approval of this MOU in 2022, all employees will be enrolled in the deferred compensation program at the rate of one percent (1%) of their pre-tax wages, unless they choose to opt out or to voluntarily change deferrals to greater than or less than the default one percent (>1%) as allowed in the plan or as allowed by law. The pre-tax deduction will be invested in the target fund associated with the employees' date of birth. All deferrals are fully vested at the time of deferrals; there will be no waiting periods for vesting rights.

Concurrent with Cost of Living Adjustments (COLA) the deferrals will be increased in one percent (1%) increments to a maximum of five percent (5%).

The County will provide training to employees regarding how to make voluntary changes to deferrals.

Section 36. Bereavement Leave

The County will provide up to twenty-four (24) hours paid bereavement leave upon the death of an employee's parents, spouse, domestic partner, child, (including through miscarriage or stillbirth), step-child, sibling, sibling-in-law, mother-in-law, father-in-law, grandparent, grandparent-in-law or grandchild.

In addition, employees may utilize accrued sick leave pursuant to Section 19.2-4.

Section 37. No Strike

The Association, its members and representatives, agree that it and they will not engage in, authorize, sanction or support any strike, slowdown, stoppage of work, curtailment of production, concerted refusal of overtime work, refusal to operate designated equipment (provided such equipment is safe and sound) or to perform customary duties; and neither the Association nor any representatives thereof shall engage in job action for the purpose of effecting changes in the directives or decisions of management of the County, nor to effect a change of personnel of operations of management or of employees not covered by this MOU.

Section 38. Severability of Provisions

If any provision of this MOU is declared illegal or unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, that provision shall be null and void but such nullification shall not affect any other provision of the MOU, all of which other provisions shall remain in full force and effect.

Section 39. Past Practices

Continuance of working conditions and practices not specifically authorized by ordinance or by resolution of the Board of Supervisors is not guaranteed by this MOU.

Made and entered into

For the Deputy Sheriff's Association:

DocuSigned by:

Carlos Tapia

Carlos Tapia, DSA President

DocuSigned by:

Stephen leonesio

Stephen Leonesio, Mastagni Law

For the County:

—DocuSigned by:

Mike Callagy

Mike Callagy, County Executive

DocuSigned by:

Rocio kiryczun

Rocio Kiryczun, Human Resources Director

DocuSigned by:

Michelle kuka

Michelle Kuka, Deputy Director Human Resources

EXHIBIT B

1. Employees assigned to the following assignments shall be paid the hourly equivalent rate of one step (5.74%) in the salary range in addition to all other compensation. After the completion of two (2) years of consecutive service in the following assignments such employees shall receive an additional 5.74% step, for a maximum total of two (2) steps in addition to all other compensation. Temporary reassignment out of the special assignment, not to exceed sixty (60) days, will not be considered a break in the two-year consecutive period.

The maximum specialty assignment pay an employee can receive at any one time is two (2) steps, not including canine pay.

ASSIGNMENTS	STEP 1	STEP 2
All Detective Assignments*	X	X
Public Information Officer	X	X
Training Unit	X	X
Jail Classification Unit	X	X
Civil Enforcement Unit	X	X
HIDTA/NCRIC	X	X
Bomb Unit	X	X
Psychiatric Emergency Response		
Team (PERT)	X	X
Motor Deputies	X	
Release Deputy	X	X

^{*}Detective Assignments are defined as Deputy Sheriff assigned to the Investigations Bureau (Redwood City and Airport), Gang Intelligence Unit, Narcotics Task Force, Vehicle Theft Task Force, Crime Suppression Unit, and the Cargo Theft Task Force.

- 2. Deputy Sheriffs and Correctional Officers assigned to Training Officer work shall be paid at the hourly equivalent rate of one (1) step in addition to all other compensation. Such compensation shall be paid only while the individual is actually assigned a trainee as a Jail Training Officer (JTO) or Field Training Officer (FTO). Deputy Sheriffs and Correctional Officers assigned to SWAT and ERT shall be paid at the hourly equivalent rate of one (1) step in addition to all other compensation. Such compensation shall be paid only while the individual is actually assigned working in, or training for, the SWAT or ERT assignment.
- 3. Incumbents in up to two (2) other assignments deemed appropriate by the Sheriff shall be paid at the hourly equivalent rate of one (1) step in addition to all other compensation. The step increases granted under this section will be effective for no more than one year and all will expire on December 31st of each calendar year. The Sheriff will review all step increases granted under this section each December to determine if the step increase

will be renewed for the following year. Step increases may be granted and removed anytime during the calendar year whenever there is a change in work assignment or assigned duties. All step increases will be granted or renewed only upon written authorization, signed by the Sheriff, and submitted to the payroll supervisor via the Bureau of Professional Standards Lieutenant. Deputy Sheriffs receiving the step increase granted under this section will be notified of the Sheriff's decision to grant, renew, or discontinue the step increase by the Bureau of Professional Standards Lieutenant.

If a step increase granted under this Section 3 of Exhibit B is removed, an employee may appeal the decision in accordance with Section 33.7 of the MOU (Involuntary Transfers for the Alleged Purpose of Punishment).

- 4. Employees in the class of District Attorney's Inspector shall receive Six Dollars (\$6.00) per biweekly pay period.
- 5. The Sheriff's Office will advertise these assignments when they become available so that all staff have an opportunity to express their interest and be considered. In advertising assignments, the Sheriff's Office will list those criteria that they find desirable and which will be considered in making selections for these assignments. Temporary special assignments may be made at the discretion of the Sheriff pending the selection process.

Side Letter Agreement Re: Work Shifts and Assignments:

This letter shall confirm certain understandings reached in negotiations for a Memorandum of Understanding covering the period of January 31, 2016, through January 9, 2021.

1. Work Shifts and Assignments

a. Work shifts are subject to modification by the Sheriff should economic or staffing contingencies dictate revisions, or in the case of an emergency. Should the Sheriff desire to effect a change they shall give advance written notice to the Association of the proposed change(s), the reason(s) therefore, the proposed schedule(s), and shall provide a reasonable opportunity to discuss such change(s) prior to implementation.

Currently, the shifts and hours of work are as follows:

- Court Services the 5 x 8 work schedule.
- Detention and Custody Division, and Patrol the Twelve (12) work schedule
- Training Bureau, Detective, Bureau of Professional Standards, School Resource Unit (SRU)/ Community Policing Unit (CPU), Civil Bureau, Admin Classification, and Transportation the 4x10 work schedule
- b. Employees assigned to the Patrol Division shall be allowed to continue to bid for their work shift assignment, in the same manner as in presently practiced, described as follows:
 - 1. Seniority

For the purposes of bidding for vacations, shifts (excluding the Detention Division), on call and overtime signups shall be based on classification seniority. For the purpose of this section, classification seniority is defined as time in class plus higher class.

2. Deputy Shift Bids

Deputies shall bid annually during the month of January for their shifts within their assignment based on time in classification plus higher classification.

3. Detention Division Shift Bid

Employees assigned to the Detention Division shall bid annually during the month of January for their shifts based on cumulative time in the classification of Correctional Officer, Deputy Sheriff and higher classifications.

Such selection shall occur at least annually and normally on January 1 of each year.

- c. The above procedure shall also be used for those employees assigned to the Detention and Custody Division and shall be applied within each facility in that division.
- 2. No written transfer policy exists at present and the Sheriff agrees not to implement a written transfer policy during the term of the MOU without the agreement of the Association. As a matter of policy, however, employees shall be given two weeks' notice of a permanent transfer between divisions except in cases of emergency.

If the foregoing is in accordance with your understanding, please indicate your acceptance and approval in the space provided below.

APPROVED AND ACCEPTED:

FOR THE COUNTY	FOR THE ASSOCIATION	
Date:	Date:	
Date:	Date:	

SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN SAN MATEO COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE

AND

THE DEPUTY SHERIFF'S ASSOCIATION

The Sheriff's Office and Association agree to the use of extra help as follows:

The primary need/use is for Deputy Sheriffs to work as bailiffs when the incumbent deputies are off on vacation or leave. They will also be used for pro tems. In addition, they will work the fourth floor holding area (however, we will continue to utilize this position for suitable deputies who have a need for temporary light duty) and sick calls in transportation/court security after reasonable attempts to offer the overtime to full-time sheriff's deputies have failed.

The use of extra help Correctional Officers will be limited to filling vacant staff positions in Corrections. Extra help Correctional Officers may be used to fill for sick calls and vacation relief at the detention facilities. The extra help positions may be filled by qualified former San Mateo County Deputy Sheriff's employees or other qualified persons (persons in possession of proper California certification). The Sheriff's Office agrees that they will not reduce full time regular Correctional Officer positions and replace with extra help positions.

When extra help employees have worked 960 hours (for SamCERA retirees) or 1040 hours (for all other extra help) during a fiscal year they will no longer be utilized until they become eligible again, the next fiscal year.

Should circumstance arise (other than a declared emergency or a one-time use) where the Sheriff's Office wants to expand or change the above, it shall give advance notice to the Association of any such proposed change and the Sheriff's Office will satisfy its obligation to

meet and confer with the Union on this subject.

1075

Carlos Tapia, DSA President

Christina Corpus, Sheriff

2/11/22

Letter of Understanding Between

San Mateo County and Deputy Sheriffs Association

Re: K-9 Unit Compensation

The following letter summarizes the parties' understanding regarding K-9 Unit Compensation.

Employees who are assigned to the K-9 Unit are entitled to compensation for the off-duty hours spent caring, grooming, feeding and one-on-one non-formal training of their canine and maintaining their canine vehicle/unit. To receive such compensation, deputy sheriffs assigned to the K-9 Unit must have responsibility for caring, grooming, feeding and training of a canine. The parties acknowledge that the Fair Labor Standards Act, which governs the entitlement to compensation for canine duties, entitles the parties to agree to a reasonable number of hours per month for the performance of off-duty canine duties. The hours in this agreement were determined after an actual inquiry by the deputy sheriff's and the Deputy Sheriff's Association. The Fair Labor Standards Act also allows the parties to agree on appropriate compensation for the performance of canine duties. It is the intent of the parties through the provisions of this article to fully comply with the requirements of the Fair Labor Standards Act. In addition, both parties believe that the following agreement does comply with the requirements of the Fair Labor Standards Act.

Employees assigned to the K-9 Unit shall be paid an additional 5.74% of salary per month which is compensation for 15.21 hours per month (3.5 hours per calendar week) for off-duty K-9 Unit duties. (It is the intent of the parties that the regular rate of pay for these off-duty canine duties, determined for each canine deputy sheriff by dividing the K-9 pay of 5.74% of salary in a pay period by 7 hours of off-duty canine activities per pay period and then dividing that amount by 1.5, will meet or exceed County, State and Federal minimum wage). This compensation compensates the K-9 Unit for the reasonable number of hours (determined after an actual inquiry of the K-9 Unit) per month which the canine deputy sheriff spends feeding, grooming and caring for the dog which has been assigned to the deputy sheriff as well as training the dog and maintaining the canine vehicle/unit off duty. The parties agree that the foregoing compensation is intended to compensate the canine deputy sheriff for off-duty canine activities on an overtime basis at one and one half times the deputy sheriff's regular canine rate for canine duties. It is expected that K-9 Unit will not work more than 15.21 hours per month performing off duty canine duties as described herein.

Employees assigned to the K-9 Unit who must take their canine to the veterinarian in an emergency shall submit a written request to the Sheriff or the Sheriff's assigned designee for additional compensation for the hours spent performing such work. Emergencies such as emergency veterinarian visits do not require advance approval because such work time is beyond the deputy sheriff's control. In addition, if a canine deputy sheriff will be required to perform duties (in rare occurrences) which causes a substantial increase in the normal off-duty hours worked for that month, they may request, in advance of the work, that additional compensation be provided. Such additional compensation must be approved in advance before any such work is performed unless the additional work is an emergency beyond the deputy sheriff's control. Any additional compensation for emergency veterinarian visits or other duties which result in a substantial increase in the normal off-duty hours worked for that month shall be at compensated at time and one half the employee's Deputy Sheriff

(non-K9) regular rate of pay. Call-Back Pay in accordance with Section 11 of the MOU between the parties shall apply to emergency veterinarian visits that occur. Routine veterinary visits by employees must occur on duty or on flex time with advance supervisory approval.

Effective July 1, 2016, employees who are assigned to the K-9 Unit shall receive one hundred and fifty dollars (\$150) each month for the purchase of dog food, bedding and other dog supplies. Each month the Lieutenant in charge of the K-9 unit shall submit a memo to the fiscal department listing the active employees in the unit, who will in turn issue payment to each K-9 unit employee. Each July for the duration of the current MOU the amount for K-9 food and supplies will be increased by five dollars (\$5).

Employees assigned to the K-9 Unit who receive advance approval for boarding of their dog shall be reimbursed for boarding expenses for the approved vendor and approved time of boarding.

APPROVED AND ACCEPTED:	
Date: 12/15/16	
FOR THE COUNTY	FOR THE ASSOCIATION
Midelle Fully	Mille f